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Sandwell Mental Health & Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

Foreword from Chairman and Chief Executive
This is our second annual report as a foundation trust and we are pleased to report that in spite of the
turbulence in the NHS and Local Authority we have continued to deliver quality services and maintained
our financial performance.
Being a foundation trust requires us to maintain and improve services, embrace change, grow and develop
the organisation, while at the same time exercise strong budgetary management. This year we have
complied with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, met the terms of our authorisation and
achieved all our performance targets.
In spite of the economic climate and major changes to the structure of the NHS, the Trust has made some
significant service improvements. As mentioned in last year’s report we have now opened a High
Dependency Rehabilitation Unit, The Macarthur Centre, on the Heath Lane site. This much needed service
was completed on time and has received its first patients.
The other major estate improvement was the development of a separate female unit as part of Penrose
Ward at Heath Lane Hospital. This enables us to comply with the Department of Health Gender
Separation requirements.
Older Adult Services saw the expansion of their community outreach service TAROS (Therapy and Recovery
Outreach Service). This much needed support enables older people to stay in their own homes as long as
possible and is of great assistance to carers.
We have completed several smaller projects and of particular note is the start of a much needed IAPT
service (Improved Access to Psychological Therapies) and the new Clozapine clinic, both of which improve
access to services and therefore quality of life of people with mental health needs.
Much of this year however, has been spent preparing for the significant change that Sandwell Mental
Health NHS and Social Care Foundation Trust will undergo.
We have also continued to work closely with our stakeholders and partners. We work collaboratively on a
number of fronts, specifically the Right Care Right Here project, Older People’s Mental Health Strategy,
changes to hospital campus services in Learning Disabilities, as well as service redesign work in Primary
Care.
As we face reduced resources, the work with the West Midlands Productivity Improvement and Pathways
programme has become even more important. All staff have worked extremely hard on this project which
is aimed at improving efficiency, effectiveness and quality within mental health services. Ultimately this
work will lead to a Payment by Results tariff for services that are not in general hospitals and will create a
more level playing field financially.
Due to the NHS reforms the Transforming Community Services initiative has seen all Primary Care Trust
provider arms move to other organisations. Our trust was selected as preferred provider for specialist
learning disability services across the Black Country, Children and Young People’s services in Dudley and all
age mental health services from Wolverhampton.
In February 2011 we held a very successful Visioning Event, with staff, users and carers, governors and
members from all the services coming together to discuss what the visions, values and goals of the new
organisation should be.
As we move forward with our new name, Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, anticipate
welcoming an extra 1,000 new staff into the organisation on 1st August 2011, much of our agenda for
the coming year will focus on safely integrating services.
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All the new services come with agreed service strategies and it will be both a challenge and a great
opportunity to bring about improvements and changes to services for some of the most vulnerable in
society. The ability to integrate, fill gaps and bring about efficiencies will, we are sure, deliver more
effective care to the people of the Black Country as well as bring greater opportunities to our staff.
At this point we would like to pay thanks to the Trust’s Board of Directors and particularly to our
Governors several of whom come to the end of their term of office later in 2011. Their unfailing support,
enthusiasm and effort in ensuring the success of the organisation and the time spent keeping our
membership informed is of enormous value.
Unfortunately it was with great sadness that two of our governors Dick Marsh and Bob Tidmarsh passed
away during the year; both had been great assets to the Trust and to the wider community of Sandwell in
their voluntary roles and are greatly missed.
As this year will bring more uncertain, economically difficult times for all parts of the public sector, it is the
staff in our organisations that bear the brunt of the impact. It is therefore with thanks to them for their
unfailing good humour, care, tenacity and dedication that we look forward to another year as a successful
organisation.

Chairman
Date: 25th May 2011

Chief Executive Officer
Date: 25th May 2011
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1. About Our Trust

Client preparing food at Newton
House, specialist step - down unit
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1.1 Brief background/establishment
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust is the major provider of mental health
and specialist health learning disabilities services to
children and adults in Sandwell. These services are
provided at a number of sites in the borough as well as
in the community and in people’s homes.
The Trust employs just over 1000 staff, including
psychiatrists, psychologists, mental health nurses,
occupational therapists, family therapists and social
workers, as well as seconded approved social workers.
In April 1995, the organisation was established as the
Black Country Mental Health NHS Trust and in April
2003 became Sandwell Mental Health NHS and Social
Care Trust, taking operational responsibility for the
provision of adult mental health social care previously
provided by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council.
At the same time, the management of Community
Learning Disabilities Services moved from the Trust to
the Council.
During 2008/09 the Care Trust successfully applied to
be a Foundation Trust and became Sandwell Mental
Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust from 1st
February 2009.

1.2 Transforming Community Services
A major policy initiative announced by the former
Labour Government and subsequently adopted by
the Coalition Government was Transforming
Community Services (TCS). This required Primary Care
Trusts (PCTs) to divest themselves of direct provision
of community services (such as mental health;
children’s services; district nursing; occupational
therapy) to other care providers by April 2011.
The Trust was awarded preferred provider status for
Specialist Learning Disabilities Services in Walsall,
Dudley and Wolverhampton, Children’s, Young
People and Family Services (CAMHS) in Dudley and
Mental Health Services, including Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and
Addiction Services in Wolverhampton.
A combination of the Trust’s excellent performance
since becoming a Foundation Trust, our experience
and expertise in managing specialist mental health
and learning disability services and our success in
providing integrated health and social care services as
a Care Trust helped us secure preferred provider
status for this significant range of services.

Since being awarded preferred provider status
significant work has been undertaken by the Trust in
conjunction with the PCTs to ensure the safe and
effective transfer of services into the enlarged
organisation in 2011/12. Independent due diligence
reviews have been completed and the risks relating to
the transfers identified and mitigated. Business cases
for each of the proposed transfers have been
developed, with a strong focus on integration
planning and approved by the Board of Directors.
The independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts,
Monitor, deems the transfers from Wolverhampton
City PCT and NHS Dudley as significant transactions
and as such subject to review prior to formal transfer
to the Trust. Subject to this review, the anticipated
transfer date of services is 1st August 2011.
In March 2011, the Trust agreed with Monitor to
update its name to take into account the new
services transferring and from the 1st April 2011, will
be known as the Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust.

1.2.1 Refinement of the Trust’s vision, values
and goals
The Trust is operating in a rapidly changing
environment with Government proposals to abolish
Primary Care Trusts and Strategic Health Authorities
and establish GP (General Practitioner) Consortia groups of GP practices that will commission services
for their population - and the creation of an NHS
Commissioning Board. The Trust’s range of services
will expand significantly and diversify, particularly
with the acquisition of Children’s, Young People and
Family Services in Dudley.
In recognition of the enlarged organisation resulting
from TCS and in response to changes in the wider
health economy and national policy, the Trust decided
to review its existing goals, values, strategic objectives
and over-arching vision. Two Visioning Events were
held in early February 2011 attended by 300
delegates including staff, service users, members and
carers from current and transferring services.
The output from these events was discussed by the
Board of Directors leading to the revised Vision,
Values and Goals. Our revised vision is:
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Our Community: You Matter, We Care
To work with local communities to improve
health and wellbeing for everyone
The revised values which characterise the way the
organisation operates at all levels are:
Honesty & Openness –
We will act in a transparent way that supports
honesty and openness.
Empowerment –
We will empower people who use services, carers
and staff.
Dignity & Respect –
People who use services, carers and staff will be
treated fairly, with dignity and respect, appreciating
their individuality.

1.3 Description and Summary of Service
Areas
The following section provides a description of our
services. We also have more detailed descriptions on
our website at www.bcpft.nhs.uk
Whilst the Trust provides specialist mental health and
learning disability services to people of all ages across
Sandwell and the wider area, services have historically
been commissioned to focus on specific age ranges
(e.g. the Mental Health National Service Frameworks
focused on the provision of adult services for those
aged 18-65). The implementation of the Equality Act
2010 will mean commissioners have to ensure people
have equal access to services regardless of their age
as well as other facets of diversity.
1.3.1 Adult Services
These services are for people aged 18 to 65,
operating from and within hospital and community
based facilities, as well as people’s own homes. Our
Adult Services support people with both common
and severe mental health difficulties.
Inpatient Care
Hallam Street Hospital provides intensive 24-hour
inpatient care to people who need more support than
we can give them in the community. To help people
get better, staff at Hallam Street encourage them to
take control of their own care. Staff help people learn
more about how they can get better, and how they
can manage their own medication and symptoms.
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The Macarthur Centre supports people with severe
and enduring mental health conditions who need an
enhanced safe environment because of their
challenging behaviour and the risk it presents to
themselves and others. Patients at the centre are
supported to build up their life skills and social skills
so that they can go back to living independently.

Community-based Care
Comprehensive community support is provided by a
number of staff working in multi-disciplinary teams.
Our community teams include the Assertive Outreach
Team, Churchvale Rehabilitation and Recovery
Centre, three Community Mental Health Teams, the
Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team, the Early
Intervention Service, the Eating Disorder Service,
Forensic Liaison Team, Mental Health Liaison Team,
two Positive Choices Teams, and three Primary Care
Liaison Teams. These teams all perform different
functions in providing mental health care to the
community.
The teams are made up of various staff including
psychiatrists, community nurses, psychologists,
occupational therapists and social workers.
1.3.2 Older People’s Services
We provide a mix of inpatient and community care
for those aged over 65 in our community. Our
inpatient and community-based teams provide the
following support:
In-patient Care
At Edward Street Hospital our staff give 24-hour care
and support to older people with mental health
needs such as dementia, depression and anxiety.
Community-based Care
Comprehensive community support is provided by
staff working in multi-disciplinary teams. Our
community teams include three Community Teams
for Older Adults, a Memory Disorder Service, a
Mental Health Liaison Nursing Service, a Therapy and
Recovery Outreach Service, and a Therapy and
Recovery Unit.
1.3.3 Children and Young People’s Services
These services are for young people up to the age of
16, and those aged from 16-18 in full-time
education. Where possible, pre-school children (aged
0-4 years) are put in touch with health visitors and
children’s centres where they can receive appropriate
support. Our staff work across Sandwell to reach
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children and young people who have severe mental
health difficulties.
Our main service is specialist Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and is for children
and young people with complex mental health needs.
The service also aims to support their families and
carers. Specialist CAMHS also run the Deliberate SelfHarm Service for children and young people (aged up
to 16, or 16-18 if in full-time education) who enter
Sandwell District General Hospital’s Paediatric Unit
showing signs of deliberate self-harm.
There are also CAMHS staff working in services
outside our Trust. For example, there are mental
health workers in Sandwell Integrated Support
Service, the Youth Offending Team, Looked After
Children and the Multi Agency Team Around the
Child (MATAC).

Joint Community-based Services
Sandwell Integrated Support Service, run by Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council, is for children and
young people (aged 0 to 25 years) who have
profound learning disabilities. We have a team within
the service who can support children and young
people with mental health needs.

1.3.5 Drug and Alcohol Services
The Anchor Team is at the heart of our service for
people with drug and alcohol dependency. Drug
workers, mental health nurses, social workers,
psychiatrists, and psychologists work together in this
team, which works closely with other teams in
Sandwell not directly linked to the Trust.
During the year the commissioners decided to tender
this service, with the result that the Trust will no
longer provide this service after August 2011.

1.3.4 Learning Disability Services
These services provide specialist health care to adults
with learning disabilities and additional complex
health needs, including autistic spectrum disorders,
mental health difficulties and behaviour problems.
Services work mainly out of Heath Lane Hospital and
a team of specialist health staff from different
professions provide a range of inpatient, outpatient
and community treatments and interventions.
Specialist healthcare staff work closely with
community nurses and social workers.

Learning Disability In-patient Care
The Gerry Simon Clinic is a regional low secure
service for men with learning disabilities and complex
health needs, some of whom may have come into
contact with the criminal justice system.
Newton House is a specialist step-down and
rehabilitation service for men with learning disabilities
and complex health needs, many of whom have been
discharged from a secure environment.
Penrose House is a specialist learning disability acute
assessment and treatment service for both men and
women. Separate female facilities are available.
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1.3.6 Carers’ Services
Our Carers’ Team gives carers the chance to have
their own caring, physical, and mental health needs
considered. The team gives support to people caring
for someone aged 18-65 years old, living in or on the
boundaries of Sandwell. The support comes in many
forms, from giving care assessments, to providing
health screening for carers and to organising social
events for carers.

1.3.7 Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care
Our Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care service is for
anyone receiving support from one of the teams or
services in the Trust.

respectful of the different faiths and beliefs they
encounter.

1.3.8 Therapy Services
We have a number of therapy services which play a
key part in the care and support we provide to
people. There are three counselling teams, a family
therapy team, occupational therapists and
psychologists working across the Trust, and speech
and language therapists and physiotherapists
working with older people and people who have
learning disabilities.

1.4 Key Statistical Data

The spiritual part of someone’s life can be an aid
towards recovery and a comfort and strength in times
of stress and anxiety. Ensuring that people can draw
on this spirituality is an essential part of helping
someone towards better well-being. We know not all
people express their spirituality through a particular
faith or religion. With this in mind, we make sure our
support is as much for those who don’t follow a
particular faith or spiritual tradition as it is for those
who do.

We serve the Sandwell population of around
283,000, and also provide some services that cover
the wider Black Country and West Midlands area.
The Trust’s turnover was £52.2m in 2010/11 and we
employed just over 1,000 staff. During the year we
delivered 571 completed episodes of inpatient care,
held 16,465 consultant outpatient appointments in
4,112 clinics, and had 120,665 contacts with people
through our community teams.
Table 1 below provides further analysis of our activity
during the year.

Our team of seven chaplains, six of whom are parttime, covers the whole Trust. Each member of the
team is from a different faith or spiritual tradition
including Hindu, Muslim, Sikh and the Christian
denominations of Church of England, Methodist,
Pentecostal and Catholic. Although chaplains come
from these different backgrounds, they are all
Table 1: Activities 20010/11
Adult

Older
Adult

CAMHS

Substance
misuse

Learning
Disability

PCS*

Episodes of
inpatient care

420

136

-

-

15

-

Outpatient
attendances

7864

3962

2426

1120

1093

-

Outpatient clinics

1628

786

887

468

343

-

Community team
contacts

53110

11607

2685

12641

182

40440

*Professional Clinical Services
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2. Governance arrangements

Giving feedback at the Visioning Event
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2.1.3 Register of Governors Interests

2.1 Assembly of Governors
2.1.1 Composition
The Assembly consists of a total of 37 governors
positions, of which 21 are elected by public members,
six are elected by staff members and 10 appointed by
recognised partner organisations of the Trust.
During the year, Monitor, the Independent Regulator
of NHS Foundation Trusts, approved amendment to
the Assembly’s composition by consolidating the
original six Sandwell areas of the public constituency
into one, and redistributing those vacant governor
seats from the Sandwell area to the other Black
Country areas of the public constituency, as illustrated
in Table 1 below. No governors were displaced by this
amendment.

Governors are required to adhere to the Code of
Conduct as approved by the Board of Directors, and
are required to declare any interest, which may
compromise their objectivity in fulfilling their duties.
A copy of the current register is published on the
Trust website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk or can be obtained
from the Company Secretary,

2.1.4 Vice Chair of the Assembly (Lead
Governor) Sandwell
Mark Sturgeon (Public - Sandwell) is the Vice Chair of
the Assembly. The role of Vice Chair is identical to
that of Lead Governor, as described by Monitor, the
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

2.1.2 Tenure and attendance
Table 2 opposite provides the names of governors in
situ during 2010/11, their tenure, the date they
became or ceased to be a governor, and a record of
their attendance at general meetings of the Assembly.

Table 1: In year changes to composition of the Public Governor Constituency
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Area

Governor Seats
Original

Governor Seats
Revised

Sandwell - Oldbury

3

Sandwell - Smethwick

3

Sandwell – Tipton

2

Sandwell – Wednesbury

2

Sandwell – Rowley Regis

3

Sandwell – West Bromwich

4

Sandwell – Total

17

13

Dudley

1

2

Walsall

1

2

Wolverhampton

1

3

Birmingham & wider West Midlands

1

1

Total

21

21
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Table 2: (continued overleaf)
GOVERNOR &
CONSTITUENCY

DATE ELECTED/
APPOINTED

DATE
CEASED

AREA, CLASS,
OR ORGANISATION
(number of seats)

CURRENT
TENURE
(years)

ATTENDANCE
AT GENERAL
MEETING
(actual/
possible)

Sandwell

3

6/6

3

2/2

PUBLIC
Geoffrey PARKES

3/11/08

Dick MARSH

13/5/09

Derek WATLING

1/7/09

3

3/6

Manjit KOONER

3/11/08

3

2/6

Liam WHEAL

13/5/09

3

2/6

Rani KAUR

1/7/09

3

3/6

David BOAZ

4/12/08

3

5/6

Ahmadul HAQUE

4/12/08

3

5/6

Margaret Ann

3/11/08

3

0/1

23/8/10

11/5/10

NAYLOR
Elaine GILES

13/5/09

3

2/6

Garry David

3/11/08

3

4/6

Mark STURGEON

3/11/08

3

5/6

Mary HAYCOCK

3/11/08

2

1/3

3

6/6

BEDFORD
2/11/10

Gaynor EDWARDS 4/12/08
Harjinder Singh

4/12/08

3/12/10

N/A

4/4

Bob TIDMARSH

1/7/2009

2/5/10

N/A

0/0

Peter SELLICK

1/9/2010

3

2/4

Sandra PRINCE

1/9/2010

3

1/4

Luke GRAHAM

16/7/2010

Dudley

3

1/5

Doreen TILL

8/6/2009

Walsall

3

3/6

Barbara

7/4/2009

Wolverhampton

3

5/6

4/12/2008

Birmingham &

3

4/6

JHEET

MERCADO
Thomas SCOTT

Wider West Mids
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Table 2: (continued)
GOVERNOR &
CONSTITUENCY

DATE ELECTED/
APPOINTED

DATE
CEASED

AREA, CLASS,
OR ORGANISATION
(number of seats)

CURRENT
TENURE
(years)

ATTENDANCE
AT GENERAL
MEETING
(actual/
possible)

STAFF
Imthiaz HOOSEN

3/11/08

Medical

3

5/6

Phil COLE

4/12/08

Nursing

3

6/6

John Anthony

3/11/08

Social Care

3

5/6

Professional Clinical

N/A

1/1

Administrative

3

5/6

FARNELL
Geraldine McGHIE 4/8/09
Martin BROWN

3/11/08

31/5/09

& Management
Martyn JINKS

16/7/10

Support

3

2/4

Cllr Joy EDIS

28/4/09

Sandwell MBC

3

3/6

Cllr Yvonne

19/5/09

3

2/6

PARTNER

DAVIES
Dr Ishraga AWAD 15/5/09

Sandwell PCT

3

5/6

Debbie TALBOT

Sandwell &

3

5/6

3

4/6

3

3/6

3

5/6

3

3/6

3

5/6

6/11/08

West Birmingham
Hospitals NHS Trust
Jayne LEESON

28/10/08

Sandwell’s
Changing our Lives
Organisation

Carol McAULEY

11/8/09

Sandwell’s Childrens
Trust

Pauline

19/11/08

HODGETTS
Alan A VERNON

Sandwell’s Agewell
Group

9/10/08

Sandwell CARES
Organisation

Rev Andrew
SMITH
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23/4/09

Sandwell Multi
Faith Network
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2.1.5 Elections to the Assembly
On 1st September 2010 an election was held for the
vacant seats in the then West Bromwich area of the
public constituency. The turnout at the election was
17.7% out of 673 eligible voters. No nominations
were received for the planned election to the vacant
professional/clinical staff governor seat.

2.1.6 Role of the Assembly of Governors
The statutory duties undertaken by the Assembly are:
• the appointment or dismissal of the Chairman and
other Non Executive Directors. During the year, the
Assembly, on the recommendations of the
Governor Led Nominations Committee approved
the appointment of a new Non Executive Director,
Pauline Werhun, CBE, to replace Anita Gosain
whose term of office ended on 30th November
2010. The recruitment and interview process was
overseen by a panel which included members of
the Nominations Committee, the Director of
Workforce and an independent external assessor,
and was conducted through open advertisement
• the determination of the remuneration and terms
and conditions of the Chairman and Non Executive
Directors
• the approval of the appointment of the Chief
Executive Officer
• the appointment or removal of the Auditor to the
Trust
• to receive and consider the Annual Report and
Accounts
• to review the Annual Plan, as presented by the
Board of Directors.
In addition to its statutory duties, the Assembly also
oversees the implementation of the membership
development strategy, and during the year has made
recommendations to the Board of Directors as to
further initiatives to enhance the engagement of
members.
The Assembly has held six general meetings during
the year and has received regular reports from the
Board of Directors concerning:
• the operational performance of the Trust as
measured against compliance and contractual
requirements
• the progress in delivering the agreed service
developments
• decisions of the Board of Directors
• the membership of both the Trust and the
Assembly itself.

Furthermore, there have been several informal
sessions held between governors, directors and also
service managers of the Trust, which have been used
to provide governors with additional information to
support them in their duties.
The Chairman plays a significant role in ensuring a
sound and open working relationship between the
Assembly and the Board of Directors. The Senior
Independent Director also attends meetings of the
Assembly, and is accessible to Governors should
circumstances arise.

2.2 The Board of Directors
2.2.1 Composition
The Board of Directors comprises the Non Executive
Chairman, six Non Executive Directors and six
Executive Directors, one of whom is the Chief
Executive Officer.
The Chairman leads of the Board of Directors in its
primary duties of:
• ensuring compliance with its terms of
authorization and other legal obligations
• setting the strategic direction of the Trust
• ensuring the quality and safety of the services it
provides
• ensuring services are provided in an effective,
efficient and economical manner.
Profiles of members of the Board of Directors are
provided below.

Bob Piper, Chairman
Bob has been chairman of Trust since
2004, and was previously a nonexecutive director from 2001.
Bob has been an elected Councillor
for Sandwell MBC (SMBC) since May
1999. Bob has significant experience of Local
Government and a sound knowledge of corporate
governance issues in the public sector. He is an
experienced chairman having chaired meetings of the
Board of Directors and Assembly, and various other
Council committees in public and private session.
Bob holds a BA (Hons) in Politics
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Bryan Stock
Bryan was appointed in March 2008.
He is Deputy Chairman; Chair of Audit
Committee; Chair of Remuneration
Committee and a Member of TCS
Programme Board.
Bryan served as Chief Executive and Finance Director
of both Stock Exchange listed companies and private
businesses. He has many years experience of working
for international businesses with extensive
involvement in acquisitions and mergers not only in
the UK, but also North America and Europe.
Bryan is also a Non Executive Director and
shareholder in a private glass processing business.
Bryan has a BSc in Economics and is a qualified
chartered accountant (FCA).

Paul Riley
Paul was appointed in October 2007.
He is the Senior Independent Director,
Chair of Finance Committee and a
member of TCS Programme Board
Paul has spent the majority of his
career in commercial roles for large private and
independent organisations. He has extensive
experience of building successful partnerships
between organisations to deliver services on behalf of
the Department for Children, and has recently
advised local authorities on options for improvements
in their children in care services. He is currently
Managing Director of Outcomes UK Ltd, which
provides services to disadvantaged groups.
Paul holds the following qualifications: B Eng (Hons)
in Chemical Engineering; European Quality
Management; Business Excellence Model.

Vicky Harris
Vicky has been a non-executive
director since 2005 and chairs the
Quality Assurance Committee.
Vicky has over 10 years management
experience working within mental
health services across voluntary and statutory
providers. She has extensive experience in partnership
working and developing services within local
community, especially around employment
projects/services for mental health service users,
notably gaining significant external funding for
Mental Health Service projects.
Vicky aims to complete her self-funded MBA in 2011.
Vicky has a BSc (Hons) in Psychology.
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Jackie Smart
Jackie was appointed to the board in
2005 and is chair of the Hospital
Managers Committee.
Jackie’s appointment to the Board was
with a specific remit to bring service
user representation. She was a mental health service
user for over six years and former secretary of the
Service User Reference Group (SURG), which she was
instrumental in establishing. She is currently
employed as a Service User Development Officer for
the Mental Health Research Network and was
formerly employed as Detective Constable in West
Midlands Police from 1983 to 2002.

Parmjit Sahota
Parmjit was appointed in March 2010.
Parmjit has good experience in the
delivery of community and
regeneration projects, wider strategy
development and partnership
working. He is currently operating as a
Neighbourhood Manger within the Communities and
Regulatory Services Division of Sandwell MBC, where
he had responsibility for the delivery of significant
regeneration projects. Previously, he held several
management positions in the retail sector.
Parmjit holds a BA (Hons) in Business Management;
and is a full member of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing (MCIM).

Pauline Werhun, CBE
Pauline was appointed in December
2010.
Pauline has over 40 years experience
within the NHS, beginning her career
as a Cadet Nurse before retiring her
role as Executive Director of Nursing at Sandwell and
West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust.
Pauline also has experience with children’s services
including direct managerial responsibilities for Health
Visitors and School Health Nurses. Since her
retirement in 2007 she has been self-employed as a
health service consultant most recently working with
the West Midlands Strategic Health Authority as
Interim Patient Safety Manager and lead for
Children’s Services. In 2002, Pauline was awarded the
CBE for services to nursing.
Pauline has a BSc (Hons) in Health Studies and is also
a registered general nurse.
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Karen Dowman, Chief Executive
Officer
Karen has been Chief Executive of
Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust since authorisation in
February 2009, and its predecessor
organisations NHS Trust since 1995.
Karen has extensive leadership and management
experience relating to service integration, service
redesign, change management and partnership
working.
Her key achievements include:
• Establishing the first Mental Health NHS Trust in
Sandwell (1995)
• Leading the NHS Trust in its negotiations to
completion of the first PFI scheme (Hallam Street
Hospital) to be concluded in the West Midlands
(2000)
• Leading the establishment in 2003 of Sandwell
Mental Health NHS & Social Care Trust, to become
one of the five Care Trusts in England
• Leading the Trust to successful authorisation as an
NHS Foundation Trust in February 2009, and since
then sound organisational performance in
preparation for the next stage of its evolution and
growth.
Karen has an MSc Public Sector Management and a
Diploma in Health Service Management and a
Diploma from the Institute of Management.

Paul Stefanoski,
Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive
Paul has been Director of Finance
since 2001. He is a member of
Healthcare Financial Management
Association’s (HFMA) National Mental Health Finance
Steering Group
Paul has significant experience in finance systems
implementation and in major service reconfigurations
and organisational mergers predominantly in mental
health services. He has led the successful financial
transitions from NHS Trust to Care Trust through to
NHS Foundation Trust status. Under his wider
executive portfolio, he has responsibility for Estates
and Facilities and IMT, and under the latter has
initiated a joint marketing agreement with the Trust's
clinical information system provider to ensure future
development in light of PbR for mental health and
the demise of the national programme for IT.
Paul has a BA (Hons) Accounting & Finance and is a
qualified chartered accountant (CPFA).

Richard Taylor, Director of
Service Delivery (Nurse Director)
Richard was appointed to the board in
2005.
Richard became a registered Mental
health Nurse in 1983. He worked as a
Lecturer / Practitioner then Deputy Director of
Nursing for Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust
prior to his appointment as Director of Nursing and
Clinical Governance at this Trust.
Richard has led the restructuring of service delivery
directorates to create a leaner, more capable
management structure for the Trust and has overseen
the commissioning of new service developments
including the High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit,
and other major transitions including the re-provision
of Learning Disability Group Homes and
decommissioning of Drug Treatment Services. During
2010/11 Richard was seconded on a part - time basis
to Wolverhampton City PCT as Managing Director for
Mental Health services, overseeing service
improvements in support of CQC compliance.
Richard has an MPhil in Healthcare Studies is a
registered mental health nurse.

Dr Stephen Edwards, Medical
Director
Stephen has been a Consultant
Psychiatrist since 1985 and he has
been Director of Mental Health
(Medical Director) from 1995.
As one of the first Consultant Psychiatrists in
Sandwell Stephen has been clinical lead in the
successful development of mental health services
within the borough, and the development of mental
health services for the elderly across the West
Midlands Region. He has been an examiner at the
Royal College for 10 years and was Regional Adviser
and Member of the School Board for five years. He
was elected Chair of the West Midlands Division of
the Royal College of Psychiatrists in 2009.
Stephen received his MBchB in 1977 and is fellow of
the Royal College of Psychiatrists (FRCPsych).
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John Campbell, Director of
Strategic Planning, Business
Development and Partnership
John was appointed to the board in
2007.
John has 20 years experience of
working in the NHS in a range of healthcare
organisations covering learning disabilities, mental
health, community services, primary care, maternity
and acute services. He has experience of managing
large-scale organisational change and of developing
business cases for significant service developments. He
has gained significant operational management
experience initially within ICT and subsequently in
business management roles including the
management and integration of child health
departments following an organisational merger,
health records, estates and information departments.
John has an MSc Healthcare Policy and Management
and is full member of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing (MCIM).

Andy Green, Director of
Organisational Governance and
Trust Secretary
Andy has extensive experience within
the wider NHS. He has been Deputy
Director of Finance and Information at
the Trust for six years, and has had Board level
responsibility for operational service delivery and
corporate support and governance functions for nine
years. As an Executive Director for the past seven years
Andy has led and influenced both strategic direction
and organisational development across varying
functions. Under NHS Foundation Status he has been
the Trust (Company) Secretary. Andy’s professional
interests include the ongoing engagement with Trust
members and stakeholders to deliver high quality
services and improve local accountability.
Andy holds an MBA (Health Executive) and is a
Member of the Association of Accounting Technicians
(MAAT).

2.2.2 Role and Independence of Non Executive
Directors
In addition to their role as board members, Non
Executive Directors also undertake the duties of
Hospital Managers in accordance with the Mental
Health Act 1983.

The Board of Directors considers that all its Non
Executive Directors are independent in character and
judgment and have no relationships which may affect
their judgment.

2.2.3 Register of Directors Interests
Directors are required to adhere to a Code of Conduct,
built on the Nolan principles of conduct in public life,
which includes a requirement to declare any interests
they feel may compromise their objectivity in fulfilling
their duties.
The Chairman has declared his role as a Councillor for
Sandwell MBC and Chair of the Sandwell MBC
Performance Management Scrutiny Committee, but
has no other significant interests.
A full register of Directors’ interests is published on the
Trust’s website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk, or may be
obtained on application to the Company Secretary.

2.2.4 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Public meetings of the Board of Directors are held on a
regular basis. The Board also meets in private as it
considers necessary. Board meetings are supplemented
by planning and development sessions during the year.
Table 3 opposite provides a record of each Director’s
attendance at Board meetings during the year
together with the term of office of the Chairman and
Non Executive Directors and the notice period of the
Executive Directors.

2.2.5 Evaluation of the Board and its Sub
Committees
During the year the Board undertook an assessment of
its own effectiveness from which emerged a series of
actions to address certain areas it identified required
improvement.
The Chairman and Non Executive Directors have
annual appraisals in accordance with the process
approved by the Assembly of Governors, the outcome
of which also feed the ongoing board development
programme as necessary. The Audit, Quality
Assurance and Finance Committees all undertake self
assessments of their performance and effectiveness
and agree improvement plans as required.

2.3 The Audit Committee
2.3.1 Membership of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is a sub committee of the Board
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of Directors, and its membership is comprised wholly
of Non Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is confirmed as having recent and relevant
financial experience.

2.3.2 Role of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s key function is to provide the
Trust with assurance as to both the adequacy and
operation of systems of risk management and internal
control within the Trust, and the integrity of the
financial statements and quality accounts of the Trust.

assets
• reviewed the Assurance Framework and associated
risk management systems of the Trust
• reviewed the Quality Accounts for 2010/11
• received and reviewed reports from the Internal
Auditor on their work programme
• received regular updates on the work of the Local
Counter Fraud Specialist.

In discharging its duties during the year the
Committee has:
• reviewed and approved the annual work
programme of both internal and external audit
• reviewed the annual management letter from
external audit and recommended its acceptance to
the Board of Directors
• reviewed the accounting policies of the Trust and in
particular arrangements for the revaluation of
Table 3: The Board Of Directors
Name

Role

Term of Office/
Notice period

Attendance
Actual/
Possible

Bob Piper

Chairman

30 November 2012

10/12

Anita Gosain (note 1)

Non Executive Director

30 November 2010

6/8

Vicky Harris

Non Executive Director

28 February 2013

11/12

Paul Riley

Non Executive Director

30 September 2011

12/12

Parmjit Sahota

Non Executive Director

28 February 2013

12/12

Jackie Smart

Non Executive Director

31 January 2013

10/12

Bryan Stock

Non Executive Director

29 February 2012

10/12

Pauline Werhun, CBE

Non Executive Director

30th November 2013

4/4

Karen Dowman

Chief Executive Officer

6 months

11/12

John Campbell

Director of Strategic Planning,
Partnership

3 months

8/12

Dr Stephen Edwards

Medical Director

3 months

11/12

Andy Green

Director of Corporate

3 months

11/12

(note 2)

Business Development and

Governance and Trust Secretary
Paul Stefanoski

Director of Finance

3 months

11/12

Richard Taylor

Director of Service Delivery

3 months

11/12

Notes: 1) Term of office expired 30th November 2010. 2) CBE commenced 1st December 2010
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2.4.The Nominations Committee
(Non Executive Led)
2.4.1 Membership
Following a review by the Board of Directors, two
separate Nominations Committees were established
at the beginning of 2010/11, focusing on the
composition as it relates to firstly the Non Executive
Directors and secondly the Executive Directors. The
former is led by the Governors of the Trust, and the
latter by Non Executives. Both are chaired by the
Chairman.
Table 5 below provides details of membership of and
attendance at meetings of the Non Executive led
committee during the year.

2.4.2 Role of the Nominations Committee
The main duties of the Committee are to:
• review the composition of the Board of Directors,
as it relates to Executive roles

• make recommendations for appointment to the
Board of Directors.

During the year the Committee has:
• reviewed and approved changes to portfolio
responsibilities of Executive Directors
• reviewed and approved changes to the
composition of the Executive Team, with the
disestablishment of the post of Director of
Corporate Governance and the establishment of
the post of Director for Children and Young
People’s Services, both to be effective in the first
quarter of the new financial year
• agreed to establish in the first quarter of the new
financial year the post of Company Secretary, the
latter assuming the functions of the Trust Secretary
as provided for in the Constitution of the Trust
• Reviewed and approved planned changes to the
composition and portfolio responsibilities in
advance of retirements of current post holders
expected in the third quarter of the new financial
year.

Table 4: The Audit Committee

Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Bryan Stock (Chair)

6/6

Anita Gosain (term ended 30th November 2010)

3/4

Bob Piper

3/6

Parmjit Sahota

2/3

Jackie Smart

2/6

Table 5: The Nomination Committee (Non Executive led)
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Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Bob Piper (Chairman)

3/3

Anita Gosain (until 30th November 2011)

2/2

Vicky Harris

2/3

Paul Riley

3/3

Parmjit Sahota

3/3

Jackie Smart

1/3

Bryan Stock

3/3

Pauline Werhun, CBE (from 1st December 2010)

1/1
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2.5 The Quality Assurance Committee
2.5.1 The Quality Assurance Committee
A sub committee of the Board of Directors, the
committee has the purpose of reviewing and assuring
the adequacy of governance systems and processes in
place to support the Trust in delivering services
against the mandated and accredited standards
expected of service delivery.

During the year the committee has:
• reviewed the evidence to support declarations of
compliance against the Care Quality Commission
registration standards
• reviewed quarterly risk management reports,
including details of incident reporting and analysis,
and complaints, concerns and compliments
• considered reports from external independent
reviews of mental health services elsewhere and
associated improvement plans
• received and reviewed reports of Care Quality
Commissioners visits in their review of the
application of Mental Health Act 1983 in our
inpatient services
• reviewed relevant elements of the High Level Risk
Register and the associated mitigation
• received reports concerning infection control and
wider patient environment matters
• reviewed the annual clinical audit plan
• reviewed the programme for research and
development
• received assurance as to the Trust compliance with
Information Governance standards.

2.5.2 Membership of the Committee
The Committee is comprised wholly of Non Executive
Directors. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is
not a member of the Quality Assurance Committee
but may attend its meetings.

Table 6 below provides a summary of attendance of
members at meeting during 2010/11.

2.6 The Finance Committee
2.6.1 Role of the Finance Committee
The committee, as a sub committee of the Board of
Directors undertakes a range of duties with the
purpose of assuring the adequacy of the financial and
performance management systems, planning
processes and investment plans.
During the year the committee has:
• maintained its in depth review of the Trust plans to
achieve recurring cost efficiencies
• reviewed emerging business opportunities and
their relevance to the core business of the Trust
• considered the processes for the development of
the Annual Budget and Annual Plan
• reviewed the adequacy of relevant risk mitigation
plans
• received and considered proposals emanating from
service contract negotiations with commissioners
• reviewed the implementation of service line
reporting, and in particular the methodology for
cost allocation
• received assurance on assumptions made in
financial and treasury management.

2.6.2 Membership of the Committee
Members of the committee are Non Executive
Directors, and whilst the Chairman of the Audit
Committee may not be a member of this committee,
he may attend its meetings.
The attendance of members at meetings held during
the year is summarised in Table 7 on page 22.

Table 6: The Quality Assurance Committee
Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Vicky Harris (Chair)

4/5

Jackie Smart

4/5

Paul Riley

1/5

Bob Piper

2/5
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2.7 Membership of the Trust
2.7.1 Eligibility
The Trust has two membership constituencies, those
being public and staff.
The public constituency, which includes service users
and carers, is drawn from Sandwell, the neighbouring
Black Country areas of Wolverhampton, Walsall and
Dudley, Birmingham and other areas within the West
Midlands area. The constitution of the Trust provides
that the minimum age for membership is 12. All staff
who are employed by or seconded to the Trust for at
least 12 months are automatically members of the
Trust, unless they expressly choose otherwise.

2.7.2 Membership Profile
Tables 8a and 8b provide an analysis of our
membership at 31 March 2011. During the year, the
Trust recruited nearly 1500 new public members, with
the objective of improving representation in the
Wolverhampton and Dudley areas specifically.
Whilst there has been a slight improvement in

representation in the male and white groups, there
remains under representation of 12-16 year olds and
this has been identified as a priority to address in the
year ahead.
Movements in membership within the year are
provided in Table 9 opposite:

2.7.3 Membership Engagement and
Involvement
The Trust has a good record of member, including
service user and carer, involvement and is committed
to developing this further. A Governor-led steering
group oversees the implementation of the
membership development strategy and during the
year has made recommendations which the Board of
Directors have agreed for new initiatives to engage
with children and younger people, including the
development of a programme of health education in
schools and the sponsorship of local junior and youth
football or sports teams.

Table 7: The Finance Committee
Member

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Paul Riley (Chair)

8/8

Vicky Harris

1/8

Bob Piper

2/8

Parmjit Sahota

8/8

Jackie Smart

5/8

Table 8a: Membership by Constituency and area/class at 31 March 2011
PUBLIC
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STAFF

Area

Number

Class

Number

Sandwell

2842

Medical

41

Wolverhampton

817

Nursing

292

Walsall

313

Social Care

32

Dudley

604

Professional/Clinical

141

Support

283

Birmingham & Wider
West Midlands

774

Admin & Management

235

TOTAL

5350

TOTAL

1024
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There have been two meetings of public governors
and their constituent members within the year and
more are planned for the new financial year. In
addition, the Trust has continued to engage and
communicate with its membership through a variety
of ways, including:
• issuing news letters to members
• the annual membership event which again
attracted a good attendance from our members
and participation from a wide range of partner and
other interested organisations
• invitations to attend the meeting of the Governors
at which Directors presented the Annual Report
• invitations to our members to the visioning event
held over two days in February 2011.

2.8 Compliance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance is
issued by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts. The Code provides an overarching
framework of standards of corporate governance,
drawn from best practice in both the public and
private sector, and is reflective of mandatory and
regulatory obligations placed on NHS Foundation
Trusts. Monitor encourages Trusts to comply with the
principles within the code, and to provide explanations
where such practice has not been applied.
Within this report, the required disclosures are made as
to the application of and compliance with the
principles and provisions of the code.

The Board of Directors has approved revisions to the
Membership Development Strategy which can be
found on the Trust’s website at www.bcpft.nhs.uk

The Board of Directors confirms that to the best of its
knowledge, the Trust complies with the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.

Table 8b: Public Membership by gender, age and ethnicity at 31 March 2011
Number of members

%

2230
3120

41.7
58.3

5350

100

193
665
4492

3.6
12.4
84.0

5350

100

Ethnicity (note 1):
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other

3924
198
703
454
71

73.4
3.7
13.1
8.5
1.3

TOTAL

5350

100

Gender:
Male
Female
Age:
12-16
17-21
22 and over

Notes: (1) includes appointment of those (183) not declaring ethnicity

Table 9: Movements in membership
Public

Staff

Total

At 1 April 2010

4048

1007

5055

Add Members joining

1422

93

1515

Less Members leaving

- 120

- 76

- 196

At 31 March 2011

5350

1024

6374
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3.1 Directors of the Trust

3.2 Principal activities of the Trust

The following held positions on the Board of
Directors during the financial year ended 31st March
2011.

The principal activities of the Trust are the provision
of mental health and specialist health learning
disability services to all age groups, and under
delegated authority of Sandwell MBC, the provision
of social care services to adults with mental ill-health.

Non-Executive Chairman:
Cllr Bob Piper
Chair of Nominations Committee

Non-Executive Directors
Anita Gosain
Term of office ended 30/11/2010
Vicky Harris
Chair of Quality Assurance Committee
Paul Riley
Chair of Finance Committee;
Senior Independent Director
Parmjit Sahota
Jackie Smart
Chair of Hospital Managers Committee
Bryan Stock
Chair of Audit Committee;
Chair of Remuneration Committee;
Deputy Chairman of Trust
Pauline Werhun CBE
Appointed 1/12/2010

Executive Directors
Karen Dowman
Chief Executive Officer; Chair of Executive Committee
John Campbell
Director of Strategic Planning, Business Development
and Partnership
Dr Stephen Edwards
Medical Director
Andy Green
Director of Corporate Governance & Trust Secretary
Paul Stefanoski
Director of Resources (Deputy Chief Executive)
Richard Taylor
Director of Service Delivery (Nurse Director)
Other directors regularly attending Board meetings
are:
Allan Duffell
Director of Workforce
Sue Marshall
Associate Director of Care Governance
Profiles of all directors can be found in Section 2 of
this report.

The terms of authorisation for the Trust, as issued by
Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts, includes a requirement in
Condition 7 for the Trust to provide mandatory
services, as itemised in Schedule 2 to the
authorisation. The terms of authorisation can be
found on Monitor’s website:
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

3.3 Risk in the use of Financial
Instruments
There are no identified risks in the use of Financial
Instruments.

3.4 Significant events post 31 March
2011
Learning Disabilities services formerly provided by
NHS Walsall were transferred to the Trust on 1st April
2011, resulting in an additional income stream of
circa £4.2m, and circa 60 WTE staff. No changes to
the accounting records are necessary as a result of
this transaction.

3.5 Employment Policies
3.5.1 Equal Opportunities
The recruitment of an appropriately skilled and
experienced workforce that represents the diversity of
the population we serve remains an important
objective of the Trust.
Staff from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
background currently represent 32% of the Trust
workforce, which compares favourably with the BME
population of Sandwell of 20.3% (Census 2001).
In furtherance of this objective we undertake close
monitoring of the composition of our workforce. This
and other indicators of employment activity such as
the number of grievances and disciplinary cases have
been reviewed during the year by the Quality
Assurance Committee.
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It remains our aim not to create unnecessary barriers
in our employment processes, especially during the
recruitment and selection of candidates, particularly
those with disabilities. The Guaranteed Interview
Scheme, which was introduced to support this aim,
continues to be successful and in 2010/11, we
received 98 applications for vacancies, of which 17
were guaranteed interview, and one candidate was
offered employment.
An analysis of our workforce at 31st March 2011 is
included in Table 1 above.

During the coming year, we shall review our policies
for the health and wellbeing of staff, and the
associated Occupational Health Service specifications
so as to ensure the key recommendations of the
Bormann Review can be addressed.
Our sickness absence rate remains higher than the
NHS average, and in acknowledgement of the
associated extra cost of sickness, the Board of
Directors set a revised target rate for 2010/11 of 5%,
which represents a further reduction on the 6%
target from the previous year. Improved monitoring
and management during the year, and a revised
policy for the management of sickness absence, has
resulted in a further reduction in sickness absence,
though our total level still exceeds the target set, as
can be seen in Table 2 below.

3.5.2 Staff Health and Wellbeing
All our staff have access to a comprehensive
Occupational Health Service, which is provided under
contract by a neighbouring NHS Trust. In addition,
the Trust directly provides a Staff Support and
Counselling Service.
Table 1: Analysis of Workforce at 31 March 2010
Analysis

Whole Time Equivalent %

Gender:
Female

782

76.3

Male

243

23.7

1025

100.0

10
954
55
6

1.0
93.0
5.4
0.6

1025

100.0

Ethnicity:
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other

635
30
145
178
33

61.9
2.9
14.2
17.8
3.2

TOTAL

1025

100.0

Age:
Under 21
22-59
60 – 64
65 and over

10 staff positively declared they had a disability

Table 2: Analysis of Sickness Absence Rates
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2010/11

2009/10

%

%

Short term

2.16

2.73

Long term

3.27

3.17

TOTAL

5.43

5.90
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3.6 Employee Involvement – Staff
Engagement
Within the Trust there is a strong commitment to
partnership working and involvement, which has
helped to improve relations with staff and their
representatives at all levels. A key aspect of this was
the establishment of a Staff Forum, chaired by the
Staff Side Lead, which replaced the traditional
consultative committee. The development of
partnership working has improved employee relations
and enabled the management of change and local
services initiatives to be handled sensitively, with staff
feeling both informed and supported. The
involvement of Staff Side Lead in meetings at middle
management level has led to a change in the role of
staff representatives, where they are embedded in
the change process, rather than responding to it. It
has also increased confidence of management in
working closely with staff representatives and sharing
sensitive information with them.
In 2010/11, a key aspect of consultation and
involvement with staff has been in relation to
Transforming Community Services (TCS). Here the
Trust has given significant time and effort to ensuring
that staff are informed about the programme and its
impact upon the organisation. This has been through
a number of routes, including the intranet, messages
from the Chief Executive, e-bulletins and the Trust
newsletter Grapevine.
To provide a face-to-face communications channel for
this important topic, and to allow staff ample time to
ask questions, Trust directors met staff at Grapevine
Live briefing sessions. These sessions took place in a
range of service locations across the Trust throughout
autumn 2010, often as an adjunct to established
team meetings. The Trust’s Staff Forum also
maintains a standing agenda item of TCS update
where the Chief Executive updates the staff side
representatives on progress.
To develop a shared culture for the expanded
organisation, a large scale Visioning Event was held
on 1st and 2nd February 2011, to establish a new
vision and set of values and goals for the Trust. This
event ran over two half days and included staff who
were likely to transfer from all three PCTs, as well as
staff within the Trust, spanning different levels and
professions. Trust members, service users, carers,
governors and non-executive directors also attended.
Over 300 people attended on each of the two days
and contributed to the new vision, values and goals

for the organisation. Additionally, the Chief Executive
presented an update of the TCS process and an
outline of the future organisational structure.

“Staff side trust the Board to make decisions
in the best interests of the people of the
Black Country…Partnership working has
served us well; we believe the Board are
committed to continue building on these
excellent foundations for the good of the
new organisation”
Phil Cole, Staff Side Lead, SMHFT

“Partnership working in the past eight years
has enabled us in the PCT to move forward
and in many areas exceed our expectations in
the delivery and development of many
community services. We believe that it is in
the best interests of our patients and staff to
be part of an organisation that is a dedicated
provider of Mental Health, Learning
Disabilities and Addiction services across the
Black Country”
John Brown, Staff Side Lead, Wolverhampton City
PCT

3.6.1 Staff Survey
The 8th annual national survey of NHS staff was
conducted between October and December 2010.
The purpose of the survey is to assess the
effectiveness of the NHS nationally through the views
of staff in order to help shape future developments.
Locally, the survey not only supports the assessment
of our effectiveness as a Trust; it also identifies how
we can make improvements in working conditions
and practices.
Since 2007 staff side has taken responsibility for the
distribution and administration of the survey to staff
as it has a direct link to the staff side agenda and it
also helps to reassure staff that all information is
treated in confidence. Once again the Trust has had a
very strong response rate of 61%, which is in the
highest 20% of similar types of trusts, compared with
63% in 2009. Tables 3a, 3b and 3c on pages 28-29
outline response rates and the Trust’s four best and
four worst performing areas.
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Table 3a: Staff Survey Response Rates
2009/10
Response Rate

2010/11

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

49%

64%*

51%

63%

2% Deterioration

Table 3b: Trust’s top ranking scores
2009/10

2010/11

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Top 4 Ranking Scores

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

KF8. Percentage of
staff working extra
hours
KF25. Percentage of staff
experiencing harassment,
bullying or abuse from
patients/relatives/public
in last 12 months
KF20. Percentage of staff
witnessing potentially
harmful errors, near
misses or incidents in
last month
KF14. Percentage of staff
appraised with personal
development plans in
last 12 months

51%

63%*

53%

65%

2% Deterioration

n/a

n/a

13%

18%

n/a

24%

29%*

22%

28%

2% Improvement

78%

67%*

85%

73%

5% Improvement

Despite Key Finding (KF) 8 showing a slight deterioration, the Care Quality Commission does not view this as a
significant change and this score is still significantly better than the national average. KF14 shows that not only
the level of appraisals is high but that appraisals are also well structured. The percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or abuse in the last 12 months is a new top ranking score for 2010/11 and far lower than
the national average. However, due to amendments to the format of questions, it is not possible to draw a
comparison to the 2009/10 results.
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For 2011/12 the primary aim will be to improve on
the four worst performing areas and to achieve this,
actions will be developed at directorate level, as well
as from a staff side and corporate level. Some of
these indicative actions are outlined below:

KF28 – Impact of health and wellbeing on
ability to perform work or daily activities
• Stress audits - proactive response to worst
performing areas
• Improve awareness of and access to Occupational
Health Services
• Improve awareness of and access to Counselling
Services
• Improve rates of staff attending health and safety
training (currently below average).

KF10 – Percentage of staff feeling there are
good opportunities to develop their potential
at work
• Improve awareness of Learning & Development
opportunities
• Improve access to alternative development
initiatives e.g. buddy systems, mentoring and
coaching
• Improve marketing/recognition of staff
achievement in training via Trust communications
• Monitor uptake of mandatory and non-mandatory
training across directorates to ensure fair access to
training to all staff.

Table 3c: Trust’s lowest ranking scores
2009/10
Bottom 4 Ranking Scores

Trust

KF28. Impact of health
and wellbeing on ability
to perform work or daily
activities
KF10. Percentage of staff
feeling there are good
opportunities to develop
their potential at work
KF25. Percentage of staff
experiencing physical
violence from staff in last
12 months
KF9. Percentage of staff
using flexible working
options

2010/11

1.68

National
Average
1.62*

44%

Trust

Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

1.68

National
Average
1.62

0% No change

48%*

38%

45%

6% Deterioration

3%

2%*

3%

1%

0% No Change

64%

72%*

60%

67%

4% Deterioration

Although KF28 is new to the bottom four indicators for 2010/11, there is no improvement or deterioration on
the previous year’s score. KF10 is also new to the bottom four indicators for 2010/11 following a marked
deterioration of six percentage points year on year. KF25 remains within the bottom four indicators and there
has been no change year on year to this position; however there have been no cases of assault reported to
Human Resources in 2010/11. KF9 also remains in the bottom four indicators and there has been a marked
deterioration in this score year on year.
With the exception with those indicated, all figures taken from 2010 CQC National NHS staff survey 2010 Results from Sandwell Mental
Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
* Taken from 2009 CQC National NHS staff survey 2009 Results from Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
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KF25 – Staff experiencing physical violence
from staff

3.8 Registration with the Care Quality
Commission

• Roll out training on bullying and harassment to
managers and teams
• Raise awareness of zero tolerance
• Improve awareness of Whistleblowing Policy and
the protection of staff who make disclosures.

It is a legal requirement for all care providers who
undertake regulated activities to be registered with
the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The Trust
submitted its application for registration in a timely
way and was registered without compliance
conditions in April 2010. This registration status has
continued throughout this reporting period.

KF9 – Staff using flexible working options
•
•
•
•
•

Improve awareness of flexible working options
Improve reporting of flexible working requests
Review flexible working policy which is out of date
Develop new ways of working
Monitor uptake of flexible working across divisions
to ensure fair access to flexible working to different
staff groups.

Overall there has been a slight decline year on year
with scores for four key findings declining and only
two key findings improving. For the majority of areas,
there has been no significant change. The Trust
continues to attain a high response rate (61%) which
is significantly higher than the national average of
54%.
Finally, question 17e from the staff survey asks staff
to rate the statement “the care of patients/service
users is the trust’s top priority.” When reviewing
the percentage of staff who agree/strongly agrees,
the Trust achieved a result of 62%, compared with
the average of 57% and this is a further
improvement on the 2009 trust figure of 60%.

3.7 Health and Fire Safety
The Trust remains committed to ensuring the health
and safety of staff, people who use our services and
visitors. Best practice in respect of Health & Fire
Safety is adopted across the Trust.
The Health and Safety Group is made up of staff
representatives, the Health and Safety Adviser,
operational and senior managers. This group meets
regularly. It reviews policies, considers risks and their
mitigation and monitors the health and fire safety
work plan.
During 2010/11 the Trust achieved the Silver award in
Occupational Health and Safety presented by the
Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents.
(ROSPA) In addition the Trust has maintained
compliance for all its properties at level one of the
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.
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3.9 Annual Patient Survey
The Mental Health Inpatient Survey was undertaken
between January and October 2010 – Questionnaires
were sent to 133 adults aged 16-24 inclusive and
who had a stay of at least 48 hours between 1st
January and 30th September 2010.
A response rate of 25% was achieved with 33
completed surveys being returned.
The results of this year’s survey were mixed with a
number of areas being scored less positively than the
previous inpatient survey. In response to this the Trust
reviewed all the existing workstreams which have a
focus on service quality within the inpatient setting.
This review resulted in a number of work areas being
relaunched.

3.10 Patient Involvement
In 2008 the Trust established the Make a Difference
group. This group is made up of people who
currently are or previously have used the Trust
services and a number of carers. It was initially
facilitated by a member of staff but over time this
facilitation has been taken up by group members.
The group has been involved in conducting a survey
of the experiences of adults using the Trust
outpatient service. In addition the group has been
consulted about a number of key Trust strategies –
for example the Single Equality Scheme.

3.11 Research & Development Activities
The Trust is a member of the Birmingham and Black
Country Comprehensive Local Research Network
(CLRN) which is one of 25 across England. During
2010/11 the Trust secured funding from the CLRN to
support the appointment of a Clinical Studies Officer
(CSO). The role of the CSO is to work with the Trust
and researchers to support the recruitment of
participants in research activity. As a result of this
appointment the profile of research within the Trust is
improving and the recruitment to portfolio research
studies increasing.
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3.12 Quality Governance Arrangements
As an existing foundation trust the organisation’s
quality governance arrangements have not been
assessed by Monitor. During 2010/11, the Board of
Directors agreed that a portion of internal audit time
be given over to complete an assessment of the
Trust’s current position against the Quality
Governance assessment framework. This work will be
completed during 2011.
The Board of Directors approved the Trust Quality
Strategy in 2009. Progress has been made against a
number of the key objectives identified in this three
year strategy.
The establishment of the Quality Council facilitates
the engagement of people who use services, carers
and other trust members in setting the quality
agenda. This twice yearly meeting is chaired by a Non
Executive Director.
Each of the service areas produced an annual quality
improvement plan focusing on the key quality
improvement areas. These plans feed the Trust annual
quality account. During 2010/11 developments have
been made in the reporting of quality improvements
and risk issues to the Board of Directors. This includes
a monthly report of the current status indicated by
the CQC Quality & Risk Profile for the Organisation.
Further work on this interactive process will be
undertaken in 2011/12.
The Quality Assurance Committee is a sub committee
of the Board of Directors which focuses on assurance
in respect of quality and risk, and its membership
comprises wholly of Non-Executive Directors.
The committee receives a quarterly integrated risk
management report which highlights the key risks to
the delivery of safe and high quality services. Twice a
year this committee receives a presentation from a
group of independent auditors who have undertaken
spot checks of the quality of services provided to
people using inpatient facilities. These audits facilitate
gathering feedback from people who use the Trust
services and support Board members receiving direct
feedback from service areas.

or using our services. Developments over 2010/11
have included the launch of Play Fair, our Single
Equality Scheme, the establishing of a new system of
Interpreting and Translation, the embedding of our
EqIA process and responding to new national equality
legislation.

Play Fair
Play Fair, the Trust’s Single Equality Scheme, was
launched at a membership event in June 2010 after
wide consultation with a range of stakeholder
organisations, the Trust’s members and governors,
and other interested parties.
The Scheme shows how the Trust is meeting its
statutory duties around equality in line with current
legislation, and sets out the actions that we have
already taken, or plan to take, in relation to
promoting equality and diversity and challenging
discrimination. It identifies new and improved ways
of working to ensure that the Trust is more efficient
and effective in meeting the diverse needs of its staff
and those who use its services. To this end, our Single
Equality Scheme provides an overarching strategy for
how we develop equality and diversity within the
Trust to ensure that all are treated with fairness and
respect. It reflects the Trust’s commitment to equality
and diversity being part of its everyday business.
Play Fair has clear objectives around equality and
diversity for the key protected characteristics of
ethnicity, gender, disability, age, religion and belief
and sexual orientation, as well as human rights
principles. We have also set objectives for other areas
of the organisation including the monitoring,
reporting and publishing of data and information;
how people give feedback about our services and
help shape them; partnership working; how our
organisational arrangements impact on equality
issues; how we manage our performance around
equality; diversity training and maintaining a
workforce that is representative of the communities
that we serve. An Action Plan accompanies the Play
Fair document and has formed the work programme
for the Equality & Diversity Strategic Group for the
year.

3.13 Equality and Diversity
It has been an important year for equality and
diversity activity within the Trust as we continue to
ensure that people throughout the organisation are
having a fair and positive experience of working here
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Organisational Structures to Support Equality
& Diversity

Examples of issues which have been raised as
a result of EqIAs include:

The Trust’s Equality & Diversity Strategic Group has
responsibility for ensuring the development and
delivery of the Trust’s Equality and Diversity agenda
across the Trust. This includes meeting the
requirements of equality and diversity legislation and
policy across all the Trust’s functions. The Play Fair
action plan forms the core the Strategic Group’s
work. Areas of activity over the last year have
included:
• The launch of Play Fair, our new Single Equality
Scheme
• The Implementation of key areas of the Play Fair
Action Plan
• The development and implementation of a new
system for Interpreting and Translation Services
across the Trust
• Ongoing monitoring of the Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) process and resulting actions
• Project work in response to local scrutiny panels
• Regular reporting to key Trust committees.

• ongoing training and development of staff in
certain areas
• ensuring the religious needs of clients are met
• development of interpreting & translation services
• need for more accessible information
• monitoring of ethnicity data by service area
• need to consider access to services by different
groups
• improved service user involvement
• monitoring of the use of the Mental Health Act
• particular needs of different gender groups
• all age provision and person-centred care.

Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs)
The Trust’s Equality Impact Assessment Framework is
now well established, with over 80 Equality Impact
Assessments (EqIAs) completed on different areas of
the Trust’s work. EqIAs are a way of thinking about
the impact that a Trust policy, strategy, project or
service might have on different groups within the
community including staff, service users and carers.
Ultimately, EqIAs offer an opportunity to reflect on
how we treat other people and whether or not we
are being fair in all we do. An EqIA is carried out
whenever the Trust is developing a new proposal or
reviewing or amending an existing proposal. As well
as helping us to promote equality, challenge
discrimination and ensure our services are genuinely
accessible to all, EqIAs also help us to fulfil our legal
obligations under equality legislation as part of our
specific duties as a public authority.
Completed EqIAs are published on the Trust website
and recorded in a register to assist with monitoring
any proposed actions and changes. Ultimate
accountability for ensuring that EqIAs are completed
and published lies with the Board of Directors. The
Chief Executive and Board of Directors look for
assurance that governance arrangements are in place
for the delivery and review of all proposals. This
means that people at all levels of the organisation are
involved in the process.
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Diversity Training for Staff
In order to ensure that staff at the Trust have an
adequate understanding of the issues around equality
and diversity, mandatory diversity awareness training
has been offered regularly through 2010/11. This is a
full day of training offered monthly and aimed at
both clinical and non-clinical staff. In addition to the
monthly training there is an e-learning package
available. 178 staff received training over the year
with 58 of those via e-learning. The aim of the
training is to enable employees of the Trust to gain an
understanding of equality and diversity issues that
affect the workplace and how they deliver their
services. Under current arrangements the majority of
staff should have received one-off training by March
2012. The training was reviewed and evaluated in the
autumn of 2010 and has received very positive
feedback from those participating.

Equality Act 2010
A major development for equality during 2010/11,
has been the formation of the new Equality Act.
Most of the new legislation came into force in
October 2010. It introduces some new provisions;
changes and extends the coverage and protection for
certain groups; and clarifies and simplifies certain
concepts and definitions. It requires equal treatment
for everyone in terms of access to employment as
well as access to private and public services,
regardless of age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage, maternity or pregnancy, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation. The Trust has been
updating and amending policies, practices and
documents in the light of this new legislation and
ensuring that it has the right processes in place for
compliance.
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3.14 Equality and Diversity
This report relates to the 12 month period from
1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011.
The Trust has reported a surplus on income and
expenditure (excluding impairments) of £707k for the
period, against an original plan surplus of £656k.
A ‘loss on revaluation and disposals’ of £1,789k was
taken to the Income and Expenditure Account during
2010/11, of which £1,101k related to the revaluation
of the Trust's newly built Macarthur Centre, High
Dependency Rehabilitation Unit for which there was
no corresponding revaluation reserve. This had the
effect of reducing the retained surplus to a deficit of
£1,082k but also reduced the depreciation charge
and Public Dividend Capital payable for the year.
Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA) for the year was £2.4m (4.6%)
compared to the plan of £2.6m (5.0%).
Income received during the year was £1.7m higher
than that received in 2009/10 due mainly to overperformance on activity related income and the
provision of additional activity by the Trust for which
there were corresponding additional costs incurred.
As such, operating expenses also increased when
compared to 2009/10.
The Trust has benefitted from having a legally binding
three-year contract with Sandwell PCT, of which
2010/11 was the second year, that provides a
measure of certainty to a significant source of Trust
income.

As at 31 March 2011, the key performance measures
for the Trust were as outlined below:
• Financial risk rating of 3
• Surplus for the financial year of £707k
• Cash balance of £3.3m – against a plan of £3.5m.

Capital Investment
Dividend payments made by the Trust on past capital
expenditure as an NHS Trust were £0.5m in
September 2010 and £0.5m in March 2011.
Future capital finance is expected to be sourced
internally (accumulated surplus and depreciation
charges) or through an interest-bearing loan. A
Prudential Borrowing Limit is set by Monitor (the
Independent Regulator for Foundation Trusts), which
for the Trust is as follows:
• maximum cumulative long term borrowing of
£9.3m, and
• approved working capital facility not greater than
£3.7m.
As at 31 March 2011, the Trust had not required any
external finance, or used its working capital facility.
Capital expenditure incurred during the year was
£3.2m of which the majority of expenditure was on
schemes as shown in Table 5 on page 34. The capital
programme for 2011/12 includes no major schemes,
with the majority of expenditure focused on backlog
maintenance and health and safety projects.

Table 4: Summary of Overall Financial Performance 2010/11
Plan

Actual

Variance

£M

£M

£M

Operating Income

50.9

52.2

1.3

Operating Expenses

48.4

49.9

-1.5

EBITDA

2.6

2.4

-0.2

Non Operating Items

-1.9

-1.7

0.2

Net Surplus/(Deficit)

0.7

0.7

0.0

Loss on Revaluation

-0.3

-1.8

-1.4
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Liquidity and Cash Management
The cashflow summary for 2010/11 is shown in Table 6 below:

Table 5: Capital Expenditure 2010/11
Scheme Name

Expenditure
£000s

Delta House

136

Edward Street Hospital

27

Hallam Street Hospital

36

Heath Lane Hospital - Site

338

The Macarthur Centre

2,677

Table 6: Cash Flow Summary for 2010/11
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Plan

Actual

Variance

£M

£M

£M

EBITDA

2.6

2.4

-0.2

Net movement in Current Receivables

0.7

1.0

0.3

Net movement in Creditors (payables)

1.9

-0.9

-2.8

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities

5.2

2.5

-2.7

Capital expenditure

-3.3

-3.2

0.1

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing

1.9

-0.7

-2.6

Net interest

0.0

0.0

0.0

PDC dividends (paid)

-1.0

-0.9

0.1

Net cash inflow/outflow

0.9

-1.6

-2.5

Period Start Cash

2.6

4.9

2.3

Period end cash

3.5

3.3

-0.2
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3.15 Infection Control

3.16 National targets

The prevention and control of infection remains a
priority for the Trust.

Throughout the year, the Board of Directors
monitored performance against a range of priorities
and targets as shown in Table 7 below.

The Infection Prevention & Control Committee is
chaired by our Director for Infection Prevention &
Control (Director of Service Delivery). Its membership
includes a Consultant Microbiologist, Infection
Control Nurse Specialist and representatives from the
clinical areas who meet quarterly and oversee the
annual infection prevention & control work plan
which ensures compliance with the Health & Social
Care Act 2008.
In addition to the internal work plan, the Infection
Control Nurse Specialist continues to work with the
wider health economy on a range of issues related to
infection prevention and control in Sandwell.
Throughout the year the Trust has continued to
promote the Clean Your Hands Campaign approach
to good hand hygiene with the help of the named
champions working in all inpatient areas.
In addition, during this reporting period, the Trust:
• has maintained compliance against mandated
standards of registration
• had no cases of MRSA bacteraemia
and
• only had one case of Clostridium difficile.

The Trust has robust systems in place to monitor its
key targets. The only exception to meeting all of the
Trust’s key targets was in relation to the new 12
month review target in quarter three (which ensures
we have a formal multidisciplinary review with all
patients on the care programme approach). Whilst
the Trust still scored a green rating for the quarter,
remedial action was taken to ensure that systems and
process failures were addressed, resulting in an
improvement and the target being achieved in
quarter four.
Other new targets have been met by the Trust (Data
Completeness: Identifiers and Outcomes) through
implementing robust systems and processes and
through improving data quality initiatives in the Trust.
Following extensive work within the Early
Intervention team to improve links with primary care
services, schools and colleges, the team exceeded its
new cases target for the year, meaning that 87 young
people experiencing psychosis are being supported by
the service to try and minimise future recurrences.

Table 7: Trust performance against national targets and priorities
Achieved 2010/11
Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

CPA 7 day follow up

95%

99%

100%

98%

98%

12 Month Review

95%

95%

95%

93%

96%

Minimising delayed transfers
of care - Health

90%

100%

99%

100%

100%

Meeting commitment to serve
new psychosis cases
by early intervention teams

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Data completeness: identifiers

99%

99%

99%

99%

99%

Data completeness: outcomes

50%

88%

89%

89%

89%

Monitor Service Performance
Score

<1.0

0

0

0.5

0

Green

Green

Green

Green

Monitor targets

Monitor Risk Rating

35

Launch of Play Fair, the Trust’s Single Equality
Sceme at the Public

36
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3.18 Sustainability and Carbon Management
Reduction
In March 2010, the Board of Directors approved its
Carbon Reduction Strategy, with the key aim to
reduce carbon emissions by 20% (of the baseline
figure for 2007/8) by 2012/13.
The strategy was driven by the acknowledgement of
the detrimental impact of carbon emissions on the
environment and ultimately people’s health, and the
obligations of the Trust to reduce its carbon emissions
thus minimising the impact on people’s health.
The strategy sets out the following key objectives to:
• review and reduce the primary energy sources to
our buildings
• develop sustainable buildings, as the opportunity
arises
• improve our waste management and recycling
processes
• reduce emissions from our transport and travel
activities
• promote sustainable procurement within the Trust
• communicate and engage with our staff and wider
membership, recognising that good basic
housekeeping is an effective tool in reducing
emissions.
The Trust has established a Carbon Management
Group, which includes staff representatives from each
service area, corporate specialists, the Director of
Corporate Governance with executive responsibility
for the strategy, and the Chairman of the Trust as
board sponsor.
The group promotes and generate ideas and projects
for carbon reduction and reports to the Executive
Committee, which in turn has the responsibility to coordinate and oversee the implementation of the
strategy and report on its progress to the Board of
Directors.
During 2010/11 cavity wall insulation and lighting
replacement projects have been completed at a

number of sites across the Trust generating an annual
saving of 53 tonnes of carbon emissions. In addition,
concerted efforts have been made in promoting
awareness of the strategy including:
• establishing a dedicated carbon management page
on the Trust Intranet
• making regular contributions and articles to the
weekly e-bulletin and Trust newsletter
• undertaking awareness events at the Trust's main
sites.
Our actual carbon emissions increased very slightly in
2010/11, mainly due to the very cold winter of 2010,
where ‘degree days’ (a well known measure of
weather related energy consumption) were some 8%
higher than the 20 year average, and 2% higher than
in 2009/10.
Despite this rise, the Trust has achieved a 17.2%
reduction on its baseline of 2007/8 and remains on
target to achieve its planned reduction of 20% by
2013.
An analysis of non-financial indicators of the Trust’s
performance in carbon reduction and sustainability is
provided in Table 9 on page 38.

3.19 Counter Fraud Arrangements
The Trust employs its own Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS) who is accountable to the Director of
Resources.
The Audit Committee receive and review reports on
Counter Fraud activities and associated
recommendations.
There were five referrals received and investigated
during the year. In addition the LCFS received a
number of enquires from managers and staff across
the Trust, on which the LCFS gave advice and
guidance, but which did not require investigation.

3.17 Monitor Risk Ratings
Table 8: Trust’s performance analysed by financial, governance and mandatory services risk ratings.
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Financial

3

3

3

3

Governance

Green

Green

Green

Green

Mandatory Services

Green

Green

Green

Green
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Additional activities have included:
• on-going work regarding staff having correct
paperwork/permits to work at the Trust
• liaison with External Agencies i.e. UK Border
Agency, Local Police, HMRC
• promotion of fraud awareness, including
presentations and corporate induction
• setting up of joint protocols with internal/external
departments i.e. Human Resources,
Communications and Internal Audit
• as a member of the Policy Ratification Group - the
review of all Trust policies for ‘fraud-proofing’.
Procedures are also ‘fraud proofed’

• undertaking of mandatory national and local
exercises i.e. Recruitment Agencies, Creditor Data
for the Trust, staff timesheets
• continuing liaison with Internal & External Audit &
internal departments i.e. Human Resources
• issuing LCFS Staff Survey to all staff in order to
assist in tailoring fraud work plans to cover any
risks which may apply to the Trust.

Table 9: Performance in Carbon Reduction and Sustainability
Scope

07/08

Type
Building Energy

454,050

410,126

413,587

2,370

2,206

1,832

1,936

72,000

30,834

45,811

32

14

20

Mileage

13,505

25,381

27,468

CO2 (Tonnes)

4

9

9

Official Business
Travel Emissions

Mileage

589,277

515,311

469,043

CO2 (Tonnes)

199

179

161

Domestic Waste

Tonnes (Landfill)

289

212

227

149

Cost (£)

35,589

39,137

31,844

23,635

CO2 (Tonnes)

101

80

104

92

Tonnes (Recycled)

5

17

Cost (£)

710

2,644

Alternative
Treatment Tonnes

36

40

Cost (£)

24,035

26,204

CO2 (Tonnes)

16

18

Trust Vehicles

Clinical Waste

Incineration Tonnes

58

48

1

1

Cost (£)

30,216

23,910

429

418

CO2 (Tonnes)

0

0

0

0

Consumption (m3)

22,551

26,376

19,362

21,017

Cost (£)

61,062

69,533

69,226

75,743

CO2 (Tonnes)

8

7

7

8

Refrigerant Gases Replaced (Kg)
CO2 (Tonnes)

3

1

8

2

6

4

22

2

Water
Finite Resources
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10/11

385,652

CO2 (Tonnes)
Greenhouse
Gas Emmissions
Mileage
Scope 1
Patient Transport
CO2 (Tonnes)

Waste
minimization
and
management

09/10

Consumption (kWh) 9,137,402 7,754,616 6,799,867 6,906,720
Cost (£)

Scope 3

08/09
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3. 20 Concerns, Complaints and Compliments
Concerns (Informal)
A total of 206 concerns were received during the
year, which is about 10% less than the previous year,
as illustrated in Table 10 below. These exclude those
verbal concerns which could not be dealt with within
24 hours and therefore are treated, in accordance
with mandatory requirements as formal complaints.

All of these concerns have been reported through the
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS), which
continues to be the method of resolving less serious
issues quickly, and provides a gateway to information
and signpost to internal and external services. The
type of concern received is broadly similar to those in
the previous year, as shown in Table 11 below.

Table 10: Concerns raised per year
Reporting period

Contacts

2006 – 2007

194

2007 – 2008

191

2008 – 2009

231

2009 – 2010

231

2010 – 2011

206

Table 11: Types of concern raised per year
Nature of concern

2009/10

2010/11

Short Appointment/referral delay

5

21

Communication

23

24

Domestic issues

12

18

Environment and facilities

35

25

Manner/attitude

14

14

Other*

48

21

Staffing/number of staff

7

9

Signposting/Information

64

56

Treatment and care

23

18

Total

231

206

Environment and facilities, and signposting/ information continue to be the main area of concern. However
there has been a noticeable increase in concerns raised about appointment or referral delay.
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Complaints

Of those remaining:

A total of 71 complaints were received during the
year, which represents an increase of about a third
compared with the previous year

• 65 were acknowledged within three working days,
the nationally required deadline; three were
acknowledged within seven days.
• 58 were offered a meeting within our local target
deadline of eight days, and five had been
addressed satisfactorily prior to the offer of a
meeting.
• 29 meetings were held within our local target of
15 days of receiving the complaint. 24
complainants declined a meeting and three
meetings were scheduled at times outside this limit
by mutual agreement.
All complaints have been completed within the
statutory time limit of six months.

Importantly, as Table 12 below demonstrates, we
have more complaints now made verbally, which is
testament to the improvements made in enabling
complainants to make formal complaints. As a result
of meeting service user needs, the Public and Patient
Involvement service has made making a complaint
more accessible. Often those wishing to make a
complaint find it difficult to express themselves
appropriately in writing or do not feel well enough to
write a letter or simply want things dealt with quickly.
Complainants are also advised about the services of
the Independent Complaints Advocacy Services
(ICAS) if they do require independent support to
write to us.
Our performance against standards for complaints
handling is monitored during the year by the
Executive Committee and again has been good.
Of the 71 complaints received, three were withdrawn
at various stages and 4 were referred to other partner
organisations.

Table 12: Method of complaint per year

40

Two complaints have been referred to the Health
Service Ombudsman, who at this stage has
acknowledged receipt of information from the Trust,
and is conducting further enquiries with a third party
provider involved in the complaint.
The Adult and Older Adult Directorate received the
highest number of complaints, (57), of which 20
were for Hallam Street Hospital (seven for
outpatients;12 for inpatients and one for healthcare
records).
The nature of the complaints remains consistent
compared to last year, with staff attitude, aspects of
clinical treatment, communication and information
prominent.

Method

Complaints
2009/2010

Complaints
2010/2011

Verbal

23

43

Written

25

29

Via PALS

6

8

Total

54

71
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The policy and procedures for the management of
complaints, concerns and compliments are coordinated corporately, and reported on regularly to
senior management. Service managers lead the
investigation of complaints in their areas, and are
fully involved in the process, from attending the initial
meetings with complainants, through to the
formulation of responses and, as necessary any action
plans to address weaknesses. At a corporate level,
the Clinical Governance and Risk team review and
monitor the complaints register along with the
responses to complaints in order to identify any issues
that may indicate a need for organisation-wide
learning and improvement, and ensure action plans
are implemented.

Compliments
A total of 69 compliments were received during the
year, which is an increase on last year’s figure of 50.
Of these, 66 were received directly by PALS, and
three by the Chief Executive.
Edward Street Hospital, including inpatients and the
Therapy and Recovery service, received the most
compliments (33), and is consistent with last year.

The Quality Assurance Committee receives quarterly
reports and seeks assurance that learning from
complaints is commonplace within the Trust.
Table 13: Nature of complaints received
Method

Complaints
2009/10

Complaints
2010/11

Admission discharge and transfer arrangements

5

7

Aids and appliances , equipment,
premises (including access)

1

0

Appointments delay / cancellation (outpatient)

3

6

Attitude of staff

13

15

All aspects of clinical treatment

11

16

Communication / information to patients
(written and oral)

9

10

Consent to treatment

1

0

Complaints handling

0

2

Patients privacy and dignity

0

4

Patients property and expenses

3

3

Personal records (including medical and / or complaints

1

0

Failure to follow agreed procedures

0

1

Patients status, discrimination e.g. racial, gender, age

2

1

Other

5

6

Total

54

71
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3.21 Key Developments during the Year
In our 2009/10 Annual Report we outlined several
developments for 2010/11 and detailed below is
progress against these.

High Dependency Rehabilitation Unit:
The Macarthur Centre
Following the successful completion of the building
within the planned timescale and budget, the Trust
officially launched the Macarthur Centre in December
2010 as planned. This is a 12 bedded unit providing
care for people with serious, long-term mental health
problems who require a longer than average stay in
hospital and who need intensive support to get
better.
Patients at the unit receive a range of services such as
psychiatry, psychology, speech and language therapy,
occupational therapy and physiotherapy, to help
them build their social and life skills and enable them
to return home when they are ready. As well as
information available to clients, families and carers
the Trust has developed a range of promotional
information about the Unit which has been
distributed to commissioners within the Black
Country and wider West Midlands. This is available
via the Trust’s internet site at:
www.bcpft.nhs.uk/publications/macarthur-centre
The Trust is phasing the opening of the unit with full
occupancy anticipated during 2011/12.

Improved Access to Psychological Therapy
(IAPT)
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (or IAPT)
is a national government initiative which aims to
improve access to a range of ‘talking therapies’ to
treat anxiety disorders or depression. Talking
therapies are designed to help people work out how
to deal with distressing and difficult thoughts,
feelings and behaviours by talking through issues and
problems with a therapist using a variety of
techniques. Evidence has shown that access to these
services help people recover quicker and can support
people in maintaining employment when they
experience anxiety or depression.
The Trust has been successfully commissioned to
provide the high intensity therapeutic part of this
new service providing talking therapies within
Sandwell since late 2010. The Trust is working with
Sandwell MIND which has been commissioned to
provide the low intensity service.
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The government plans to roll out access to IAPT
services to children and young people over the next
few years and the Trust is well placed to provide
these services.

Learning Disability Acute Assessment /
Intensive Support Team
It is a desire of the Trust and commissioners to
enhance community-based services through
investment in an Intensive Support Team which can
provide more intensive specialist health care for
people with learning disabilities where they live and
avoid hospital admission where possible.
Commissioners also recognise the need to improve
the range of placements available for people with
learning disabilities who do need hospital care in
order to reduce unnecessary delays in discharge.
Given recognised funding constraints facing local
authorities, a Black Country-wide solution may be
more economically viable. Given that the Trust is
aiming to manage specialist learning disability
services across the area, we aim to work with
commissioners across Sandwell, Dudley, Walsall and
Wolverhampton to review need and to take this
development forward in 2011/12.

Enhanced Psychiatric Liaison in Sandwell
General Acute Hospital
It is estimated that on average, two-thirds of acute
hospital beds are used by older adults (people aged
65 and over) and over half of those have an
underlying mental health condition which if left
untreated can hamper their recovery. There is
compelling evidence that identifying and treating the
mental health needs of acute hospital patients has a
direct impact on the recovery of their physical health
and can cut overall costs of healthcare. Most patients
who frequently re-attend Accident and Emergency
departments do so because of their untreated mental
health problem.
The Trust provides a limited psychiatric liaison service
at Sandwell General Hospital and subsequently
developed a business case for additional funding
from local commissioners to enhance this service.
Although it was disappointing that commissioners did
not support the business case, a short-term pilot
scheme specifically for older adults was
commissioned by Sandwell PCT from December 2010
to March 2011 as a result.
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The newly formed Commissioning Cluster (covering
Sandwell, Dudley, Walsall and Wolverhampton PCTs)
will be reviewing the longer-term investment and
requirements for liaison psychiatry across the Black
Country. The Trust has already contributed to this
review.

Transforming Community Services
The government’s Transforming Community Services
(TCS) initiative required Primary Care Trusts to divest
themselves of direct provision of community services to
other providers. As highlighted previously, the Trust
was successfully identified as preferred provider for
Specialist Learning Disabilities Services in Walsall,
Dudley and Wolverhampton; Children’s, Young People
and Family services in Dudley and Mental Health
Services (including CAMHS and Addiction Services) in
Wolverhampton. A combination of the Trust’s
excellent performance since being authorised as a
Foundation Trust, our experience and expertise in
managing specialist mental health and learning
disability services and our success in providing
integrated health and social care services helped us
acquire preferred provider status.
The Trust has provided significant support to the
respective PCTs through a number of checks and
reviews stipulated by the West Midlands Strategic
Health Authority, Department of Health and the Cooperation and Competition Panel (CCP) in relation to
TCS. These were aimed to test the rigour of the
solution proposed and required the PCTs to
demonstrate the suitability and fit of its services to the
Trust as preferred provider. These assurance
assessments have been successfully completed, with
the finding that competition and contestability was not
compromised within the local health economy.

Walsall Learning Disability services successfully
transferred to the Trust from the 1st April 2011. In
total, 78 staff transferred over to the Trust. They are
employed in a range of services such as supporting the
inpatient units; (assessment and treatment at Orchard
Hills and the forensic step-down unit at Suttons Drive)
and the community teams (including professional
clinical services, who work out of The Allens Centre).
From 1st April 2011, the Trust will also be managing
Dudley’s Learning Disabilities and Children, Young
People and Family Services and Wolverhampton’s
Mental Health, Learning Disabilities, CAMHS and
Addiction Services under agreement with the PCTs
prior to the proposed transfer expected in the summer.

3.22 Financial Outlook
The financial projections for the Trust for the period
2011/12 to 2013/14 are shown in Table 14.
These projections are based on inflation and cost
assumptions which are detailed in Table 15 overleaf.
In addition, further services have been, or are expected
to be, incorporated into the Trust during 2011/12 as a
consequence of the Transforming Community Services
(TCS) agenda. Learning Disabilities services formerly
provided by NHS Walsall were transferred into the
Trust on 1st April 2011, representing an additional
income stream of circa £4.2m, and circa 60 whole
time equivalent staff.

Table 14: Financial Projections 2011/12 to 2013/14
2011/12 £M

2012/13 £M

2013/14 £M

Income

89.7

102.2

100.8

Operating Expenses

-85.9

-97.7

-95.8

Normalised EBITDA

3.9

4.5

5.0

EBITDA Margin

4.3%

4.4%

4.9%

Donated Asset Reserve

0.3

0.0

0.0

Depreciation & Dividends

-1.9

-2.0

-2.1

Normalised Surplus / (Deficit)

2.3

2.5

2.9

Surplus Margin

2.5%

2.4%

2.9%
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The following services are also expected to transfer on
1st August 2011:
• Mental Health and Learning Disabilities services
from Wolverhampton City PCT – circa £35m
income recurrently (£2.4m non-recurrent funding
to support transfer) and circa 800 whole time
equivalent staff
• Learning Disabilities and Children, Young People
and Families Services from NHS Dudley - circa
£15m income and circa 280 whole time equivalent
staff.
The anticipated financial risk ratings resulting from
the projections are shown in Table 16 below.
The financial forecasts have been developed in
consultation with budget holders based on prior year
performance and taking account of service changes
highlighted in the Trust’s Business Plan.

Given the challenging economic climate, the future
financial health of the Trust will depend significantly
on the ability to identify and secure recurring cost
efficiencies whilst building upon the quality of
services provided. Table 17 opposite shows the level
of planned efficiencies required over the next three
years.
In response to the expected efficiency requirement,
the Trust has developed plans that are expected to
produce recurrent savings; the key areas are shown in
Table 18 opposite.
The Trust is able to confirm that there are no
significant issues since the balance sheet date that
have had an impact on the Foundation Trust
accounts.

Table 15: Financial Projections 2010/11 to 2012/13
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

Income Inflation

-1.5%

-1.5%

-1.5%

Pay Inflation

0.0%

0.0%

0.5%

Incremental Drift

1.45%

1.33%

1.34%

Drug Inflation

2.5%

3.1%

3.3%

Clinical Supplies and Services Inflation

2.5%

3.1%

3.3%

Other Expenses Inflation

2.5%

3.1%

3.3%

PFI Inflation

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

Table 16: Anticipated Financial Risk Ratings 2010/11 to 2012/13
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Weighting

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

EBITDA Margin

25%

2 (4.6%)

2 (4.4%)

2 (4.9%)

EBITDA Plan

10%

5 (100%)

5 (100%)

5 (100%)

Return on Assets

20%

5 (11.3%)

5 (11.4%)

5 (13.1%)

I&E Surplus Margin

20%

4 (2.5%)

4 (2.4%)

4 (2.9%)

Liquidity Ratio

25%

4 (32.2)

4 (36.2)

4 (32.9)

Weighted Average

3.8

3.8

3.8

Risk Score

3

3

3
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3.23 Marketing / Operating Environment
The Health and Social Care Bill contains radical
proposals for the modernisation of both the NHS and
social care services. Its vision of modernising the NHS
is based on the following key principles:
• to put patients at the heart of the service
• to change the emphasis of measurement to one of
clinical outcomes, and
• to empower clinicians to take decisions about how
NHS resources are used.
In headline terms, the NHS has been “protected”
from the funding reductions being experienced in
other areas of the public sector. However, significant
savings will be required in order to manage the
expected increase in demand within the same
resource envelope.
Local authorities face reductions of around 28% over
the next three years. As a consequence, it is expected
that social care will be significantly affected by these
reductions, no matter what the area.
For the NHS, the government is committed to
continually improving quality of services despite the
current financial environment. It sees competition
between providers of healthcare as essential to
achieving value for money for the taxpayer. The “Any
Willing Provider” principle (subject to corporate and

quality standards) is one all healthcare organisations
will need to address.
The proposed formal establishment of General
Practitioner Consortia from 2013 will also have a
highly significant impact on the operation of the
health and social care system. With GPs directly
responsible for committing the majority of NHS
expenditure (£80 billion), their influence over the
design and operation of such services in the future
will be profound. GPs will also be responsible for
ensuring value is achieved, and are likely to be given
considerable freedom to do so.
Experience to date suggests that the contractual
relationship with local authorities will be very
transactional and focused mainly on the price of the
service in isolation rather than the more traditional
NHS approach of considering the whole system costs.
In the short to medium term, local authorities are
most likely to competitively tender services under
their commissioning jurisdiction.
It is still unclear, under the new commissioning
arrangements, who will commission specialist mental
health services. At present, it is possible that a
significant proportion of these services could be
commissioned by Specialist Commissioning Teams
working out of the regional offices of the National
Commissioning Board (due to perceived issues of risk

Table 17: Efficiency Savings Required 2011/12 to 2013/14
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

Cost Efficiencies (£M)

3.8

4.5

4.3

As a % of relevant Operating Cost

4.4%

4.6%

4.5%

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

£M

£M

£M

Workforce

0.7

0.8

0.7

Service Line Management

1.4

1.6

0.9

Corporate & Estates

1.1

2.0

1.6

Financial Control

0.4

1.0

0.6

Medical

0.4

1.0

0.4

TOTAL

4.0

6.4

4.2

Table 18: Planned Efficiency Savings 2011/12 to 2013/14
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and lack of specialist expertise at GP Consortia level).
Alternatively, Consortia may commission the full range
of mental health services. The challenge to provider
organisations will be one of service consistency and
responding to differing priorities across the new
Consortia boundaries.
Owing to widespread opposition to the Health and
Social Care Bill, the government has paused the
passage of the Bill through Parliament to undertake a
listening exercise. This will be a chance to pause, listen,
reflect and improve the details of the legislation.
Members of the public and NHS professionals have
been invited to comment on four specific areas: choice
and competition; accountability and patient
involvement; education and training and advice and
leadership. The Health Secretary has made it clear that
although the listening exercise will allow substantive
changes to the details of the Bill, the principles of
modernisation will remain unchanged.

3.24 Indication of Future Developments
Transforming Community Services
The Trust will continue to work with PCTs to ensure the
safe and effective transfer of the remaining TCS
services (planned for summer 2011) by establishing
new management arrangements, enabling the transfer
of staff and ensuring services and systems are
integrated.
The Trust has developed an integration plan which it
will use as a blueprint to realise systems and service
benefits through improving quality, through
innovation, by improving productivity and by focusing
on preventative models of care (this is commonly
referred to as QIPP).

The Productivity Improvement Pathways (PIP)
programme is a regionally led service redesign
programme which examines the benchmarking of
like services, understanding work undertaken by
clinical teams and identifying and implementing a
standardised approach to the treatment of patients.
The Trust has already commenced the early stages of
the benchmarking work, undertaken redesign
projects such as the productive ward (this examines
clinical staff time and how this can be optimised to
release time to care for patents) and will be
implementing the alignment of patients in the
coming year to be seen by the right clinical team in
the right clinical setting.
Once services from across the Black Country have
been integrated, the focus will be on the
transformation and re-design of those services. The
aim will be to ensure equity and effectiveness of
provision and to ensure that the services operate in
an efficient and productive manner with as little
variance in the services delivered as possible.

Choice and Partnership Approach in Child
and Adolescent Mental Health Services
(CAMHS)
Choice and Partnership Approach (CAPA) is a clinical
system specifically developed for and applied to
CAMHS Services. The purpose is to enable redesign
of services; there are 11 components, some or all of
which may be applied.
All job roles and skills within CAMHS are assessed to
identify areas of strength, gaps in service provision,
where time could be used more effectively and where
skill mixes could improve efficiency.

Examples of QIPP include the development of a
service-led Estates Strategy which will look at the
future demand for services and the necessary fit
required.

The result for the service user is a more responsive
and accessible service with reduced waiting times.
The staged process is now underway and is expected
to be fully realised locally in 2011/12 through project
management arrangements.

The Trust is also working alongside commissioners in
Wolverhampton to examine the implementation of the
Commissioner’s ambitions regarding their Mental
Health Strategy, completed in 2010.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
Targets

These service developments will be led by the
Transformation team, a team which will be established
to ensure the associated benefits from the transfer of
services are realised. The team will comprise of service
redesign, organisational development, systems
integration and modelling leads.

Productivity Improvement Pathways
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The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) framework was launched to support the
shift to making quality the organising principle of the
NHS.
The CQUIN framework aims to embed quality
improvement and innovation at the heart of
commissioner-provider discussions and hence ensure
that local quality improvement priorities are discussed
and agreed at board level in all organisations.
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The framework makes a proportion of Trust’s income
(1.5%) conditional on achievement of locally agreed
goals around quality improvement and innovation.
The Trust is working with commissioners to develop
and implement the CQUINs for this year.

Alcohol Services
The Trust is working with commissioners to review
the service model for alcohol misuse services. This will
examine the current service model and examine ways
in which this can be delivered in future. It is
anticipated that the Trust will work alongside
commissioners in the first two financial quarters of
year, with planned changes taking effect in the latter
half of the financial year.

3.25 Decommissioning
Learning Disability Group Homes
The Trust currently provides learning disability services
within a residential (health and social care) setting.
The national NHS campus re-provision programme
requires that these services are re-designed to ensure
singular accommodation, personalising the care so
that it focuses on the social care aspects of the
individual’s needs. As such, the Trust is working with
commissioners to realise this aim and it is expected
that by the end of the second quarter (2011/12) that
this service will be fully transferred out of the NHS.

Adult Drug Treatment Services
The Trust currently provides Tier 3 Adult Drug
Treatment Services (ADTS) in Sandwell. The Sandwell
Commissioners undertook a tendering process for
ADTS to reconfigure the service so that one provider
will cover the whole pathway providing all tiers (1-3).
As a result, the commissioners intend to transfer the
Tier 3 service to an alternative provider in 2011/12.
The Trust aims to work closely with the new provider
over a transitional period to ensure that care is
continued and that patients experience a seamless
transfer as far as possible.

3.26 Risks to objectives
Risk management is a key governance activity and
the strategy as approved by the Board of Directors in
December 2010 seeks to promote a good risk
management culture across all levels within the Trust.
The Board of Directors regularly review those high
level risk that, if not mitigated, might compromise
the ability of the Trust to meet both its mandatory
and contractual obligations and its strategic
objectives.
Looking forward the Board has identified the following
key risks, for which mitigation plans and lead directors
have been agreed.
• a lack of clear commissioning intentions and the
potential for consequent income reduction
• the non-delivery of the post acquisition integration
plan resulting in identified benefits not being
realised
• an inability to deliver strategies of those services
acquired during the year to timescales may have an
adverse impact on service quality
• the potential inability to maintain on-going
compliance with Care Quality Commission
registration standards
• the estate (buildings) we use may not be considered
as fit for purpose
• we may be unable to deliver Cost Improvement
Plans (efficiency savings) without impairing service
quality
• we may have problems in recruiting and developing
a flexible workforce
• service decommissioning and consequent
withdrawal of “full cost” income may impair the
quality of other services
• the continuing local under investment in Mental
Health and Children’s Services may result in
impaired quality of services
• we may have difficulty in complying with Terms of
Authorisation through the year
• the increased diversity in commissioners and their
intentions may make it difficult to ensure
consistency in quality of service provision
• the potential abolition of national pay agreements
(e.g. Agenda for Change etc.) and the need to
develop alternative arrangements
• the continued absence of a national ‘tariff’ for the
services provided by the Trust and the potential
adverse impact on commissioning decisions
• the potential adverse impact of austerity measures
by local authorities, that may lead to disinvestment
in other services.
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3.26 Key Contractual Relationships
Sandwell PCT is currently the major commissioner for
the Trust with approximately 10% of the Trust’s
income coming from other PCTs. Figure 1 below
demonstrates the key commissioning relationships for
the 2010/11 period.
It is recognised that in subsequent years as per the
TCS service development and in line with the national

commissioning drive for the proposed abolition of
PCTs (and establishment of GP Consortia led
commissioning), these relationships will change from
2011/12 onwards. Whilst some of these structures
remain undecided at present, the Trust’s business
development function will work on identifying the
revised future commissioner landscape with the view
of establishing relationships to optimise income
streams moving forward.

Figure 1: Sources of the Trust’s income

Sandwell
PCT (Older
Adult, Adult
MH, CAMHS

Other PCTs
(10% income)

Specialised
Commissioning
Team (forensic
services)

3.27 Statement as to disclosure to Auditors
As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the auditors are unaware,
and that the Directors have taken all of the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors are
aware of that information.
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Sandwell
DAAT (alcohol
and ADTS)

Sandwell
MBC (LD)

4. Remuneration Report

Client gardening at Newton House, specialist
step-down unit
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The Remuneration Committee
In accordance with the Constitution of the Trust and
the Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts,
the Board of Directors has established a Remuneration
Committee, whose membership is comprised wholly of
Non Executive Directors, to determine the
remuneration and terms and conditions of Executive
Directors and other very senior management positions
that are not governed by nationally negotiated
frameworks, such as Agenda for Change.
Membership of and attendance at meetings of the
Committee during 2010/11 is provided in Table 1
below.

During the year the Committee, in accordance with its
agreed Remuneration Policy, has:
• approved a cost of living increase to the salaries of
Executive Directors and other very senior
management posts of 2.25%, effective from 1st
April 2010 in line with that provided under the
nationally negotiated Agenda for Change
framework.
• approved an additional annual remuneration of
£2924, effective from 1st April 2011, for those
Executive Directors and other very senior managers
required to undertake regular on-call duties.
• commissioned an independent review from KPMG
LLP to highlight the potential effects of changes to
the taxation of pension benefits effective in the tax
year commencing 6th April 2011, and to identify
any consequent risks and potential mitigation for
the Committee to consider.
• initiated a preliminary review of the terms and
conditions of the Executive Directors and other very
senior managers not governed by nationally
negotiated frameworks.
• approved the remuneration of new Divisional
Director posts effective from their date of
appointment in the new financial year
commencing 1st April 2011.
No Executive Directors held Non Executive Directorships
at other bodies during 2010/11.

Chief Executive
25 May 2011
Table 1: The Remuneration Committee
Name

50

Attendance (Actual/Possible)

Anita Gosain (Chair until 30/11/2010

2/2

Bryan Stock (Chair from 1/12/2010)

3/5

Vicky Harris

2/5

Bob Piper

3/5

Paul Riley

3/5

Parmjit Sahota

2/5

Jackie Smart

1/5

Pauline Werhun, CBE (from 1/12/2010)

3/3
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Table 2: Salaries and allowances 2010/11
2010/11

Remuneration

Bob Piper
Karen Dowman
Paul Stefanoski
Sue Marshall
Andy Green
Alan Duffell
Richard Taylor
John Campbell

Allan Craig
Stephen Edwards
Anita Gosain
Vicky Harris
Jackie Smart
Paul Riley
Bryan Stock
Parmjit Sahota
Pauline Werhun

Chair
Chief Executive
Director of Finance and
Performance
Associate Director of Care
Governance
Director of Corporate
Governance
Acting Director of
Workforce
Director of Nursing
Director of Strategic
Planning, Business
Development &
Partnership
Associate Director of
Social Care
Medical Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director

2009/10

Salary
(bands of
£5000)
£'000

Other
Remunera
tion
(bands of
£5000)
£'000

Benefits in
Kind
Rounded
nearest
£100

Salary
(bands of
£5000)
£'000

Other
Remuner
ation
(bands of
£5000)
£'000

Benefits in
Kind
Rounded
nearest
£100

25-30
115-120
90-95

0
0
0

100
900
400

25-30
115-120
90-95

0
0
0

100
900
1300

100-105

0

100

95-100

0

100

80-85

0

500

80-85

0

700

70-75

0

400

70-75

0

300

80-85
80-85

0
0

0
1800

80-85
80-85

0
0

0
1900

50-55

0

0

50-55

0

0

25-30
5-10
10-15
5-10
10-15
10-15
10-15
0-5

155-160
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

600
100
200
0
0
400
0
0

25-30
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
0
0

50-155
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

600
200
200
200
100
200
0
0
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Graphics capturing views at the Visioning
Event, February 2011
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Table 3: Pensions 2010/11

2010/11 Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers
2010/11 Pension Benefits

Real
Increase
in pension
at age 60

Karen Dowman - Chief
Executive
Paul Stefanoski - Director of
Finance and Performance
Stephen Edwards - Director of
Mental Health
Andy Green - Director of
Corporate Governance
Richard Taylor - Director of
Nursing and Risk Management
Sue Marshall - Associate
Director of Care Governance
Alan Duffell - Director of
Workforce
John Campbell - Executive
Director of Strategic Planning,
Business Development &
Partnership
Allan Craig - Associate Director
of Social Care

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
at 31
March
2010

Real
Increase
/(Decrease)
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Real
Increase
in pension
lump sum
at age 60

Total
accrued
pension
at age 60
at 31
March
2011

Total
lump
sum at
age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2011

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
at 31
March
2011

2.5-5

7.5-10

45-50

145-150

1,066

1,076

(9)

0-2.5

2.5-5

15-20

45-50

195

213

(18)

5-7.5

15-17.5

70-75

220-225

0

1,655

0

0-2.5

5-7.5

30-35

95-100

559

594

(35)

0-2.5

5-7.5

40-45

120-125

818

838

(21)

2.5-5

7.5-10

35-40

110-115

662

674

(12)

0-2.5

2.5-5

5-10.

25-30

145

144

1

0-2.5

2.5-5

20-25

60-65

237

265

(28)

0-2.5

2.5-5

20-25

70-75

578

576

2
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5. Statement of
Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities

Comments posted at a meeting of the
Quality Council
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting
officer of the Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation
Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the accounting officer of the NHS Foundation
Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by
Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed the Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
• make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the
financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act.
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Chief Executive Officer
Dated 25 May 2011
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6. Statement on
Internal Control

Practice Development Team with their
Team of the Year Award
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Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS foundation
trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets
for which I am personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust
is administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically. The system of internal control has
been in place in Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31
March 2011 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk
The Trust is committed to ensuring that risk
management forms an integral part of its philosophy,
practices and development, where responsibility for its
application and implementation is accepted at all levels
within the organisation.
At a collective level, the Board of Directors is
responsible for approving the risk management
strategy and monitoring and reviewing its
implementation. I, as the Chief Executive Officer, have
overall responsibility for establishing internal control
systems and have delegated certain risk management
responsibilities to Executive Directors, and other senior
managers within the Trust.
Governance arrangements within the Trust provide for
the identification, assessment, analysis and
management of risk at appropriate levels representing

a systematic approach to risk management and thus
enabling a fair, responsible and learning culture to
develop.
Staff at all levels are required to attend mandatory and
statutory training courses relating to key elements of
risk management and are provided with risk
management training information at corporate and
local induction sessions. More specific training (for
example physical intervention skills) appropriate to
individual roles and responsibilities is provided in
accordance with the risk management and learning
and development strategies of the Trust. Staff also
have access to risk specialists employed by the Trust in
functions such as Health and Fire Safety, Infection
Control, Data Protection, Complaints and General Risk
management.
The Trust seeks to learn from good practice in a
number of ways including incident reporting and
reviews, complaints and claims management and the
review of safety alerts, the outcomes of which are
cascaded through the Trust’s governance structure and
through the publication of regular bulletins via the
Trust intranet and email system. Consequent
improvements to systems and practice are included
within service quality improvement plans.

The risk and control framework
The Risk Management Strategy, which was last
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors in
December 2010, describes in detail the approach to
risk management and defines clearly where
responsibility lies at each stage of the process.
All staff are required to report risks, including hazards
that they encounter in their work, through well
defined incident reporting procedures. Risks are also
identified from the review of complaints, both formal
and informal, and through audit and research projects.
Management’s review of functional control systems
against mandated and other standards of good
practice and the ongoing assessment of our
performance against plans provide mechanisms for the
identification of clinical, operational, financial, strategic
and external risks.
Once identified, risks are recorded and evaluated for
their potential to adversely affect service delivery and
the objectives of the Trust. Evaluation of the risk
includes an assessment of both the likelihood of the
occurrence and the consequence of the risk being
realised, using a risk matrix adapted from the
Australian/New Zealand risk management standard
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(AS/NZS 4360:1999). The descriptions allocated to each
level of likelihood and consequence within the risk
matrix enable a consistent approach to risk evaluation
across the Trust.
The authority to treat risk is determined by the level of
risk assigned, and treatment plans will be reviewed and
monitored at relevant managerial levels, both
individually, e.g. Service Manager or Director, and
collectively, e.g. Directorate Management Team or
Operation Risk Group.
Those risks which are assessed as high level are reported
on a regular basis to the Executive Committee, a subcommittee of the Board of Directors via the High Level
Risk Register. This Register includes reference to the risk
mitigation plans, the identification of lead directors
responsible for the execution of mitigation plans,
indicative timescale for mitigation to be implemented,
and an assessment of the residual risk. This process
enables ongoing review and confirmation of the high
level risks and progress with mitigation.
The High Level Risk Register is regularly reviewed by the
Board of Directors, and reports to the Board of Directors
and its sub committees require the identification and
assessment of risk to be included for consideration.
The High Level Risk Register is also reviewed by and
discussed with the local Primary Care Trust as host
service commissioner through service quality review
meetings.
The Board of Directors also review and approve the
Assurance Framework, which identifies the principal
objectives being pursued in furtherance of each
strategic objective, and those principal risks likely to
compromise realisation of the objective. In each case the
Board of Directors reviews the controls in place to
mitigate the risks, and the source of assurance for each.
Any gaps in control or assurance are identified and
action plans put in place to address the gaps. The
assurance framework, and the supporting processes for
its production and review, is then subject to
independent review by Internal Audit.
The Executive and Quality Assurance Committees
regularly receive and review reports which provide an
overview of risk management activity, including incident
reporting and analysis, investigations into serious
untoward incidents and complaints management.
The Audit Committee has a key responsibility to review
the adequacy of the organisational systems of risk
management and internal control and in so doing
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considers the adequacy of the Board Assurance
Framework as reviewed by Internal Audit and reviews
the Board Assurance Framework in its entirety.
Both the Quality Assurance Committee and Finance
Committee undertake assurance of the high level risks
through their business agendas, the outcome of which
is regularly reported to the Board. The Quality Assurance
Committee also has a specific duty to review the
adequacy of arrangements the Trust has in place to
meet the required standards of Information
Governance, as mandated by the Department of
Health.
The Assembly of Governors is actively engaged in the
development of the Annual Plan, and is alerted to those
key risks to the achievement of strategic objectives as
identified by the Board of Directors. The Assembly
receives regular reports from Directors during the year,
which include updates on mitigation of those risks.
The Trust has put in place appropriate governance
arrangements for data and information security in
accordance with the standards laid out within the
national Information Governance framework. The roles
of Caldicott Guardian and Senior Information
Responsible Officer are both undertaken by Executive
Directors of the Trust and the job requirements of other
key corporate officers include relevant responsibilities
associated with information and data security. All staff
within the Trust receive relevant training at induction
and throughout their employment. Any incidents and/or
risks associated with data and information security are
reported and dealt with in accordance with the Trust
risk management and incident reporting policies.
The Board of Directors have identified a number of key
risks which are to be managed during the coming year,
and these are detailed elsewhere within the annual
report and the annual plan. However of those, the most
significant risks include the following:
• inability to generate efficiency savings to the level
required, without impairing the quality of service
provision
• the lack of clear commissioning intentions and the
potential for loss of service income
• inability to deliver the post acquisition integration
and benefits realisation plan
• not meeting the performance standards within the
NHS FT compliance regime
• not maintaining ongoing compliance against Care
Quality Commission registration standards for
services acquired.
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Responsibility for the mitigation plans has been agreed
for each of the risks and these will be monitored
during the year by the Board of Directors
The Trust is fully compliant with the requirements of
registration with the Care Quality Commission.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of
the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in
place to ensure all employer obligations contained
within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring the deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the
Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and
the member Pension Scheme records are accurately
updated in accordance with the timescales details in
the Regulations.

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from the
Internal Auditors concerning their review of internal
control systems and procedures and the progress of
management in implementation of agreed
recommendations. It also receives regular updates on
key issues emerging from the work programme of the
Local Counter Fraud Specialist

The Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009
and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS
foundation trust boards on the form and content of
annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above
legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and
human rights legislation are complied with.

The production of the Annual Quality Report has been
led by the Associate Director of Care Governance, with
input from other officers as required.

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon
Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in accordance
with emergency preparedness and civil contingency
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations
under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation
Reporting requirements are complied with.

An initial version of the report was presented to and
reviewed by both the Audit and Quality Assurance
Committees. Subsequently, the approved report was
submitted, in accordance with the aforementioned
regulations, to Sandwell Primary Care Trust, as the
main commissioner, for its confirmation as to whether
the report contained accurate information in relation
to the services provided by the Trust. This statement is
included in the body of the Quality Report.

Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring
systems are in place to maintain the economic,
efficient and effective use of resources within the Trust.
The Executive Committee, a sub-committee of the
Board, whose membership includes Executive
Directors, Clinical and Service Directors, meets on a
monthly basis to review the performance of the Trust,
against the agreed financial, contractual, service and
quality targets as set by the Board of Directors.
The Finance Committee reviews and assures the
rationale and adequacy of investment and cost
improvement plans, and their potential impact on the
effectiveness of service provision.
An integrated performance report, covering finance,
workforce, compliance targets, contractual targets and
service line activity is regularly presented to the Board
of Directors, which in turn approves the quarterly
compliance report for submission to Monitor, the
Independent Regulator.

In addition, and again in accordance with the
regulations, the Trust submitted the Quality Report to
both the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board of
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council and the
Sandwell Local Involvement Network for their review
and comments, though neither have responded.
The Quality Strategy, outlines the Trust’s approach to
quality management and improvement, and
establishes the Quality Council, whose membership
includes governors and members of the Trust, and
whose function is to oversee its ongoing development
and implementation.
During the year, the Board of Directors has received
regular monitoring information relating to quality
metrics as part of the integrated performance
monitoring report, some of which feature as
performance targets against which the Trust has
declared full compliance with.
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It has not been necessary to introduce or amend any
policy within the Trust, nor employ any additional staff
to assist with the production or maintenance of the
Quality Report.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, and the executive managers within
the Trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework. I
have drawn on the content of the Quality Report
attached to this Annual Report and other performance
information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors
in their management letter and other reports. I have
been advised on the implications of the result of my
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the Board of Directors, the Audit
Committee, the Quality Assurance Committee and the
Finance Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is
in place.
In particular, the process applied in maintaining and
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control includes the following elements:
• Regular reviews of the High Level Risk Register, and
the Assurance Framework by the Board of
Directors
• The work of the Audit Committee and in particular
its assurance of the adequacy of the Trust wide
systems of risk management and internal control
• The duties of the Quality Assurance Committee in
its assurance of quality governance and risk
management, and in particular its review of
assurance of the self-assessment against
Information Governance standards
• The award of level one compliance by the NHS
Litigation Authority against its accredited risk
management standards
• The ongoing compliance with the standards of
registration with the Care Quality Commission, as
evidenced by its publication of the Quality Risk
Profiles for the Trust.
• The independent due diligence of actual and
planned acquisitions of services from neighbouring
Primary Care Trusts under the national
Transforming Community Services initiative
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• The engagement of independent legal advice in
the drafting of actual and proposed Business
Transfer Agreements and Service Contracts
associated with the aforementioned transfer of
services
• The role of the Finance Committee both in assuring
the adequacy of plans to mitigate high level
business, financial and strategic risks, and
reviewing the financial and performance reports
and forecasts
• The ongoing application of the risk management
strategy and process by Executive Directors and
other senior management
• The interim report of the External Auditor
• The work of Internal Audit and specifically the
annual Head of Internal Audit opinion which states
“that significant assurance can be given that there
is a generally sound system of control designed to
meet the organisations objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently”
• The in year and annual reports of external
inspection agencies, such as the Care Quality
Commission ( formerly Mental Health Act
Commission )
• The work programme of the Local Counter Fraud
Specialist
• A review of the adult safeguarding and child
protection arrangements.
The specific processes applied in maintaining and
reviewing the Quality Report, over and above those
cited above, include:
• The regular reports on quality metrics to the Board
of Directors
• The ongoing work of the Quality Council
• The implementation of the Quality Strategy

Conclusion
There are no significant internal control issues that
have either been identified during the reporting
period, or anticipated to occur in the future that
require disclosure in this statement.

Chief Executive
25 May 2011

7. Accounts and
Associated Notes

Trust staff and members
supporting Get Moving Week in
Sandwell Valley Country Park
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FOREWORD TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
These financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 have been prepared by Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006
in the form which Monitor has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
25 May 2011

Statement Of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 March 2011
Before nonrecurring
items

Nonrecurring
items

Year Ending
31 March
2011

Year Ending
31 March
2010

Note

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Revenue

7.21

52,245

-

52,245

50,515

Operating expenses

7.3.1

(50,336)

(281)

(50,617)

(48,653)

1,909

(281)

1,628

1,862

(1,705)

(870)

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year
Impairments to the profit and loss 7.14.3

(1,705)

Gain/(loss) on the disposal of fixed asset

(84)

-

(84)

106

Operating Surplus/(deficit) before
financing

120

(281)

(161)

1,098

Finance income

7.10

17

-

17

12

PDC Dividends payable

7.11

(938)

-

(938)

(989)

(801)

(281)

(1,082)

121

(1,082)

121

(906)

(2,454)

-

(1,300)

Donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation

(35)

(42)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension scheme

715

(695)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

(226)

(4,491)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

(1,308)

(4,370)

RETAINED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income
Impairments to the revaluation reserve
Asset disposals
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2011
Year ended
31 March 2011

2 months period
31 March 2010

Note

£000

£000

Intangible assets

7.13

13

27

Property, plant and equipment

7.14

25,635

25,817

25,648

25,844

ASSETS NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables

7.16

2,590

3,597

Cash and cash equivalents

7.17

3,263

4,912

3,672

(126)

31,501

34,352

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

7.19

(3,724)

(4,369)

Tax payable

7.23

(761)

(723)

Other liabilities

7.24

(611)

(871)

(5,096)

(5,963)

26,405

28,389

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Local government pension liability

7.19

(501)

(1,123)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

7.19

(38)

(92)

(539)

(1,215)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(5,635)

(7,178)

NET ASSETS / (LIABILITIES)

25,866

27,174

16,246

16,246

9,732

10,638

301

336

Local government pension reserve

(232)

(947)

Income and expenditure reserve

(181)

901

25,866

27,174

TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Donated asset reserve

TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

The financial statements on pages 62 65 were approved by the Board on
25th May 2011 and signed on its
behalf by:

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive

Paul Stefanoski
Finance Director
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity As At 31 March 2011
Public
dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Donated
asset
reserve

Pension
reserve

14,146

14,428

378

(252)

-

-

-

-

Balance at 1 April 2009

Income
and
expenditure
reserve

Total

745 29,445

Income for the year
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

121

121

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation gains / (losses) on property

(2,454)

Reduction in the donated asset reserve
in respect of depreciation

(2,454)
(42)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme

(695)

Transfers to the income and
expenditure account in respect of
assets disposed of
Public dividend received

(42)
(695)

(1,301)

(1,301)

2,100

Other transfers between reserves

2,100
(35)

35

-

Total other comprehensive income

2,100

(3,790)

(42)

(695)

35 (2,392)

Total comprehensive income

2,100

(3,790)

(42)

(695)

156 (2,271)

16,246

10,638

336

(947)

901 27,174

Balance at 31 March 2010
Income for the year
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

(1,082) (1,082)

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation gains / (losses) on
property

(906)

Reduction in the donated asset
reserve in respect of depreciation

(906)
(35)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme
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(35)
715

715

Total other comprehensive income

-

(906)

(35)

715

-

(226)

Total comprehensive income

-

(906)

(35)

715

(1,082) (1,308)

Balance at 31 March 2011

16,246

9,732

301

(232)

(181) 25,866
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2011
Year ended
31 March 2011

2 months period
31 March 2010

£000

£000

120

1,098

Non-recurring items

(281)

-

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

(161)

1,098

7.3.1

798

691

7.14.2

1,705

612

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

7.16

1,007

41

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

7.19

(1,267)

1,229

Increase/(decrease) in taxation

7.23

(38)

4

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

7.24

(260)

760

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

7.19

(54)

(33)

Other movements in operating cash flows

757

(730)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

2,486

3,672

17

12

Payments to acquire property, plant and
equipment

(3,214)

(2,421)

Receipts from sale of property, plant and
equipment

-

152

(3,197)

(2,257)

-

2,100

(938)

(989)

(938)

1,111

(1,649)

2,526

4,912

2,386

3,263

4,912

Note

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating surplus for the year before nonrecurring items

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairments

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

7.10

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

PDC dividends received
PDC dividends paid

7.11

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 APRIL 2010
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 MARCH 2011

7.17
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7.1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations as endorsed by the European Union,
applicable at 31 March 2011 and appropriate to Sandwell
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust.
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS
foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the 2010/11 NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.
The accounting policies contained in that manual follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury’s 2010/11 Financial Reporting Manual to the extent
that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation
trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently
in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.
7.1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost
convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
7.1.2 Income recognition
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when,
and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured
at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main
source of income for the trust is contracts with
commissioners in respect of healthcare services and the main
types of income this relates to are cost and volume income,
block contract income and clinical partnerships providing
mandatory services.

7.1.4 Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of
the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable
under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.pensions.nhsba.nhs.uk. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and
Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would
enable the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. The cost to
the Trust of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting
period. Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are
not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the
time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of
the method of payment.
Local Government Superannuation Scheme
Some employees are members of the Local Government
Superannuation Scheme (LGPS) which is a “final salary”
defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets and
liabilities attributable to these employees can be identified
and are recognised in the Trust’s accounts as part of ‘FRS 17
Retirement Benefits’ requirements. The assets are measured
at fair value, and the liabilities at the present value of future
obligations.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be
delivered in the following financial year, that income is
deferred.

Staff who transferred to the Care Trust on 01 March 2003
from Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council contributes to
the LGPS locally administered by the West Midlands
Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund. From 1 April 2010 to
March 2011, the Care Trust paid employer's contribution of
14.6%. The contribution rate is determined by the Fund's
actuary based on 3 yearly valuations, with the last review
being 31 March 2010.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only
when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is
measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

The LGPS is subject to a full actuarial valuation every three
years. Between the full valuations the LGPS is subject to an
IAS 19 Employee Benefits valuation every year.

7.1.3 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but
not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the
following period.

The purpose of this valuation in accord with IAS 19
Employee Benefits is to assess the level of liability in respect
of the benefits due under the LGPS taking into account its
recent demographic experience and to recommend the
contribution rates to be paid by employers and LGPS
members.
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From 1 April 2008, employee’s contributions are on a tiered
scale from 5% up to 8.5% of their pensionable pay
depending on total earnings.
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Further information can be found in the Pension Fund's
Annual Report which is available on request from The West
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pensions Fund, Care of
Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Suite, St Peter's Square,
Wolverhampton, WV1 1SL or the Fund’s website at
www.wmpfonline.com
The increase or decrease in the liability arising from
pensionable service earned during the year is recognised
within operating expenses.
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in
the pensions reserve and reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive
income’.
Scheme Provisions as at 31 March 2011
The LGPS is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are
normally based on 1/60th of the best of the last 3 years
pensionable pay for each year of service. No lump sum is
payable on membership accrued from 1 April 2008 and
previous membership rights prior to this date were frozen at
that point with certain protections being applicable to some
employees.

7.1.6 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical
substance which are capable of being sold separately from
the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential be provided to the Trust and where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of
being used in the Trust's activities for more than one year;
they can be valued, and they have a cost of at least £5,000.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as
intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least £5,000
is incurred. They are amortised over the shorter of the term
of the licence and their useful economic lives.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising
all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and
prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates
defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 and are based
on changes in consumer prices (CPI) in the twelve months
ending 30 September in a previous calendar year. On death,
a pension of 50% of the member's pension is normally
payable to the surviving eligible beneficiaries.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value.
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where and to
the extent that they reverse impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available
to members of the LGPS who are permanently incapable of
fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A
death gratuity of three times the final year's pensionable pay
for death in service.

Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available
balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged
to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the
revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive
income’.

For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the
additional pension liabilities are not funded by the LGPS. The
full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged
to the Profit and Loss account at the time the Trust commits
itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The LGPS provides the opportunity to members to increase
their benefits through money purchase Additional Voluntary
Contributions provided by an approved life company. Under
the arrangement the employee can make contributions to
enhance their pension benefits. The benefits payable relate
directly to the value of the investments made.
7.1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and
to the extent that they have been received, and is measured
at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in
the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful
economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption
of economic or service delivery benefits and charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
7.1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow or
service potential be provided
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial
year; and
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being
used for a period which exceeds one year and they:
• Individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
• Collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and
individually have a cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or
• Form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of
a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured
initially at cost (for leased assets at fair value), representing
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair
value.
Land and Buildings are restated to current value by
undergoing a full valuation by external professionally
qualified valuers every five years with an interim valuation to
take place every three years. The interim valuation is carried
out by external professionally qualified valuers unless the
Trust can provide sufficient evidence that the valuation could
be carried out by a professionally qualified valuer employed
by the Trust.

Operational equipment is carried at current value. Where
assets are of low value and, or have short useful economic
lives, they are carried at depreciated historic cost as a proxy
for current value.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its
original specification, the directly attributable cost is added to
the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure is
simply restoring the asset to the specification assumed by its
economic useful life then the expenditure is charged to
operating expenses.
Depreciation
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not
depreciated. Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are
depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or
service delivery benefits. The useful economic lives of assets
are reviewed on an annual basis and the effects of any
change are recognised on a prospective basis. The economic
life applied to buildings is dependant on the building it
relates to.
In accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment the
Trust uses the following economic lives to depreciate its
assets on a component basis:

Estimated useful economic lives

Minimum life
years

Maximum life
years

Buildings (excluding dwellings)

14

39

Plant and Machinery

5

15

Information technology

5

8

Furniture and fittings

7

10

Revaluation and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to
the extent that they reverse impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values
and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to
the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, thereafter being charged to operating
expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are
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Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers
in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. An interim valuation
has been undertaken January 2011 which covered a
selection of buildings as the Trust undertook full valuation in
2009-10.

reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Donated assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value
on receipt and this value is credited to the donated asset
reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as
described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on
revaluations are also taken to the donated asset reserve
and, each year, an amount equal to the depreciation charge
on the asset is released from the donated asset reserve to
retained earnings.
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Similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to the
income and expenditure account is matched by a transfer
from the donated asset reserve. On sale of donated assets,
the net book value of the donated asset is transferred from
the donated asset reserve to the Income and Expenditure
Reserve.
Protected and non-protected assets
Assets required for the provision of mandatory goods and
services are protected. Assets which are not required for
the provision of mandatory goods and services are not
protected and may be disposed of by the Trust without the
approval of Monitor.
7.1.8 Operating Leases
Building operating leases - Trust as lessee
Building operating lease rentals are charged to operating
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease
rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of
the lease.
Land operating leases - Trust as lessee
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land
component is separated from the building component and
the classification for each is assessed separately.
7.1.9 Government grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies
other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts
for the provision of services. Grants from the Department
of Health, including those for achieving three star status
and grants from the Big Lottery Fund are accounted for as
Government grants.
Where the Government grant is used to fund revenue
expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is
used to fund capital expenditure the grant is held as
deferred income and released to operating income over
the life of the asset in a manner consistent with the
depreciation charge for that asset.
7.1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The Trust does not deem its stock holding
as material and therefore includes a nil stock balance on
the Statement of Financial Position.
7.1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the
current values of these balances in the NHS Foundation
Trust's cash book. These balances exclude monies held in
the Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to patients
(see "third party assets" – note 7.17.1 below).

Account balances are only set off where a formal
agreement has been made with the bank to do so. In all
other cases overdrafts are disclosed within other creditors.
Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on
overdrafts is recorded as, respectively, "finance income"
and "finance cost" in the periods to which they relate.
Bank charges are recorded as an operating expense in the
periods to which they relate.
7.1.12 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from
contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent
which performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of
the goods or services is made.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through
Income and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or
‘Available-for-sale financial assets’. Financial liabilities are
classified as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or
as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current
investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS debtors,
accrued income and ‘other debtors’.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, or when appropriate a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the
effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or when appropriate a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts
payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term
liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out
to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust
assesses whether any financial assets, other than those
held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are
recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which
has an impact on the estimated future cash-flows of the
asset.
7.1.13 Provisions
The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it
has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will
be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the
best estimate of the resources required to settle the
obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted
using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms,
except for early retirement provisions and injury benefit
provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension
discount rate of 2.9% in real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk
pooling scheme under which the NHS foundation trust
pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the
NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS
foundation trust. The total value of clinical negligence
provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS
foundation trust is disclosed at note 7.21 but is not
recognised in the NHS foundation trust’s accounts.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS foundation trust participates in the Property
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the
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trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs
of claims arising. The annual membership contributions,
and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims
are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
7.1.14 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed
in note 22, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• Possible obligations arising from past events whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the entity’s control; or
• Present obligations arising from past events but for
which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
7.1.15 Public dividend capital
At any time the Secretary of State can issue new public
dividend capital to, and request payment of public
dividend capital from the Trust. Public dividend capital
(PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the
excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment
of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined
that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning
of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS
foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM
Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net
assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial
year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all
assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated
assets, (ii) net cash balances held with the Government
Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash balances held in
GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital
facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or
payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the
Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend
for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net
assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised
should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the
audit of the annual accounts.
7.1.16. Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included
in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.
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7.1.16 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on
behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in
them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to
the accounts (see note 7.1.17 below) in accordance with
the requirements of HM Treasury’s 2010-11Financial
Reporting Manual.
7.1.17 Accounting judgements and estimation
uncertainty
In the application of the trust’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors, which are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

7.1.18 Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions
are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods. The main areas
which require the exercise of judgement are in accounting
for fixedassets and provisions.
7.1.19 Accounting standards that have been issued but
have not yet been adopted
The following accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations have been issued by the IASB and IFRIC but
are not yet required to be adopted:

Effective for the next financial year ending 31 March 2012

Effective

Annual Improvements 2010

2011/12

IAS 24 (Revised ) Related Party Disclosures

2011/12

IFRIC 14 Amendment

2011/12

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments

2011/12

Effective for future financial years
IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment

2012/13

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amendment) – Transfers of financial assets

2012/13

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Uncertain

2012/13

The Trust has considered the above new standards,
interpretations and amendments to published standards that
are yet effective and concluded that they are either not
relevant to the Trust or that they would not have a significant
impact on the Trust’s financial statements, apart from some
additional disclosures.

7.1.20 Accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations issued that have been adopted early
The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting
standards, amendments or interpretations.
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analysed by (e.g.) income source and income by type in note
7.2.2 to the financial statements on page 22. Other
operating revenue also analysed in 7.2.4 and materially
consists of revenues from healthcare education and research
and other income from various sources relating to the
provision of services to other NHS bodies. Total revenue by
individual customers within the whole of HM Government
and considered material, is disclosed in the related parties
transactions note 7.27 to the financial statements on page
87.

7.2 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
7.2.1 Segmental Analysis
The Board (the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined
by IFRS 8 Operating Segments) has determined that the Trust
operates one material business segment, which is the
provision of healthcare services. The operating results of this
segment are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The provision of healthcare (including medical treatment,
research and education) is within one main geographical
segment, the United Kingdom, and materially from
Departments of HM Government in England.

The percentage of total revenue receivable from within the
whole of HM Government is disclosed below. The significant
factor behind which is the 'mandatory services requirement'
(NHS healthcare), as set out in the Trust's Terms of
Authorisation from Monitor and defined by legislation.

Revenue from activities (medical treatment of patients) is
7.2.1 Total Revenue

Year ended
31 March
2011

Revenue from whole HM Government

£’ 000

%

£’ 000

%

49,321

94.4%

48,063

95.1%

2,924

5.6%

2,452

4.9%

52,245

100.0%

50,515

100.0%

Revenue from non HM Government sources
Total revenue

Year Ended
31 March
2010

7.2.2 Revenue from Activities – by Source
7.2.2 Revenue from Activities - by source

missing

Foundation Trusts
44
NHS Trusts
Primary Care Trusts
Local Authorities
Non-NHS Other

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year Ended
31 March 2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

28
527
40,285
8,406
59

319
36,510
11,116
90

49,321

48,063

7.2.3 Revenue from Activities – by Type

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year Ended
31 March 2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

Cost and volume contract revenue

32,062

32850

Block contract revenue

10,281

8736

Clinicial partnerships providing mandatory services

4,734

4856

Other clinical revenue from mandatory services

2,244

1621

49,321

48,063
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7.2.4 Other operating revenue

Year Ended
31 March 2011

Year Ended
31 March 2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

Education and research

1484

1292

Other revenue

1440

1160

2924

2452

Other operating revenue includes:
Education: Madel £400k, Nurse Training £339k, Psychology
training £270k, NVQ courses £119k, Management
leadership training £68k, Other £288k

Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services.
Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial. Revenue from
activities, education and research arises from mandatory
services as set out in the Trust’s Terms of Authorisation from
Monitor.

Other revenue: Metro Court £575k, Wolverhampton PCT
consultancy £220k, Restaurant income £94k, LIFT £82k,
Work placement co-ordinator £38k, Other £431k

73

Sandwell Mental Health & Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

7.3 Operating expenses
7.3.1 Revenue from Activities

Before nonNonrecurring items recurring items

Year Ended
31 March 2011
Total

Year Ended
31 March 2010
Total

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts

168

-

168

162

Services from NHS Trusts

350

-

350

254

42

-

42

203

2,909

-

2,909

2,952

943

-

943

905

97

-

97

87

36,415

35

36,450

34,930

1,373

-

1,373

1,267

Supplies and services- clinical
(excluding drugs costs)

80

-

80

74

Supplies and services- general

937

-

937

783

1,132

-

1,132

1,030

9

-

9

14

3,764

-

3,764

3,949

13

-

13

(18)

785

-

785

678

Amortisation on intangible assets

13

-

13

13

Audit services- statutory audit

86

-

86

73

Legal fees

83

26

109

43

Consultancy costs

104

197

301

140

Training, courses and conferences

193

-

193

195

Patient travel

277

-

277

259

64

-

64

78

9

-

9

6

Insurance

120

-

120

153

Other services. Eg external payroll

104

-

104

101

38

-

38

11

228

23

251

311

50,336

281

50,617

48,653

Services from Other NHS Bodies
Purchases of healthcare from non-NHS
bodies
Employee expenses- executive directors
Employee expenses- non-executive
directors
Employee expenses- staff
Drug costs

Establishment
Transport
Premises
Increase/(decrease) in bad debt provision
Depreciation on property, plant and
equipment

Car parking and security
Hospitality

Loss, ex gratia and special payments
Other expenses
Total Operating expenses

The Trust’s contract with its external auditors, KPMG LLP, provides for a limitation of the auditors liability of five hundred
thousand pounds sterling.
Other expenses include: JIF £96k, Demolition costs £84k, Black Country Locality Board £67k, Carers Grant £33k, Advocacy
Services £31k, Other £24k
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7.3.2 Non-recurring items

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year Ended
31 March 2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

5

-

Agency costs

30

-

Legal costs

26

-

197

-

23

-

281

-

Non-recurring operating expenses:
HR costs

Consultancy costs
Other costs
Total non-recurring items

Non-recurring costs have arisen from Transforming Community Services. Full details are contained within the post balance
sheet event note 7.26 on page 86

7.4 Operating leases
7.4.1 As a Lessee – payments recognised as an expense:

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year ended
31 March 2011

£’ 000

£’ 000

1,574

1,562

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year ended
31 March 2011

£’ 000

£’ 000

Not later than one year

1,460

1,387

Between one and five years

5,153

5,058

After 5 years

9,553

9,973

16,166

16,418

Minimum lease payments

7.4.2 Total future minimum lease payments:

Future minimum lease payments due:

Total

The Trust has not entered into any arrangements where it is the lessor.
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7.5 Employee costs and numbers
7.5.1 Employee costs

Year Ended 31 March 2011

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Permanently
Employed

Other

Total

Permanently
Employed

Other

Total

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

Short term employee
benefits - salaries and
wages

30,472

30,472

-

29,429

29,429

-

Short term employee
benefits - social
security costs

2,434

2,434

-

2,324

2,324

-

Post employment
benefits - employer
contributions to NHS
pension scheme

3,269

3,269

-

3,193

3,193

-

Termination benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

109

109

-

102

102

-

1,109

787

1,109

35,835

Other long-term benefits
Agency/contract staff

1,109
37,393

36,284

787
35,048

787

7.5.2 Average number of persons employed

Year Ended 31 March 2011

76

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Permanently
Employed

Other

Total

Permanently
Employed

Other

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Medical and dental

51

51

57

57

Administration and
estates

220

220

228

228

Healthcare assistants
and other support staff

251

251

262

262

Nursing, midwifery and
health visiting staff

263

263

268

268

Scientific, therapeutic
and technical staff

113

113

105

105

Bank and agency staff

74

-

74

40

-

Other employees

22

22

-

24

24

994

920

74

984

944

40

40
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7.5.3 Average number of persons employed

Year ended 31 March 2011
£’ 000

£’ 000

1040

991

133

153

Number

Number

Money purchase schemes

0

0

Defined benefit schemes

10

11

Directors remuneration
Employers contributions to the pensions scheme
Total number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under:

7.6 Early retirements due to ill-health
During the twelve month period to 31 March 2011 there were no early retirements from the Trust agreed on the
grounds of ill-health.
7.7 Better payment practice code

Measure of compliance

Year Ended 31 March 2011
Numbers

£’ 000

Total trade bills paid in the year

6,923

11,714

Total trade bills paid within target

5,180

10,862

74.82%

92.72%

Total NHS bills paid in the year

161

1,281

Total NHS bills paid within target

104

1,014

64.60%

79.17%

Numbers

£’ 000

Total trade bills paid in the year

8,716

11,799

Total trade bills paid within target

7,671

11,361

88.01%

96.29%

Total NHS bills paid in the year

202

1,806

Total NHS bills paid within target

149

1,629

73.76%

90.22%

Trade

Percentage of trade bills paid within target
NHS

Percentage of NHS bills paid within target

Measure of compliance

Year Ended 31 March 2011

Trade

Percentage of trade bills paid within target
NHS

Percentage of NHS bills paid within target
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The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim
to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is
later.
7.8 PFI Schemes
The overall Scheme sees the Trust entering into a Project
Agreement with Ryhurst for a period of 25 years for the
provision of serviced Acute Mental Health facilities. The
facilities have been constructed by Ryhurst on land in the
ownership of the Trust in Hallam Street, West Bromwich,
and opened to patients in February 2000.
The facilities comprise:
1.
2.

A Resource Centre for use by Inpatients and other
Patients attending on a day basis.
Five Residential Blocks including a small Learning
Disabilities Bungalow.

Within the Project Agreement, Ryhurst provide the
following services for the Trust:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Domestic Services
Catering Services
Laundry and Linen Services
Portering Services
Site Security Services
Maintenance Services

Within the main agreement, a payment mechanism has
been agreed, with the Trust paying a single monthly
payment. The payment mechanism has the following main
features:
1.
2.

3.

An availability element - the unitary payment for the
availability of serviced facilities.
Service failure reductions - reductions to the
availability element for failures of performance in
delivering services; and
A variable element - to reflect variations from
budgeted volumes of patient activity for catering and
linen.

The contract has an operating phase of 25 years, at the
end of which the Trust does not have the right to acquire
the asset. At Year 25, the Trust has the option to continue
using the assets should the health need remain on terms
to be agreed and negotiated on a five yearly basis.
Alternatively, the Trust could 'walk away' leaving Ryhurst
to seek alternative users of the facilities to continue to
make commercial returns for the remaining 100 years of
the head lease. This therefore means that under IFRC12
the PFI scheme can be treated off-Statement of Financial
Position
The Scheme Operator has accounted for the Scheme as an
asset on its own balance sheet.
The Scheme has resulted in no Guarantees, Commitments
or other rights and obligations beyond the contract end in
October 2023.

7.8.1 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme charges to operating expenses

Year ending
2011

Year ending
2011

£’ 000

£’ 000

1,398

1,339

Year ending
2011

Year ending
2011

£’ 000

£’ 000

Within one year

1,270

1,256

2nd to 5th years (inclusive)

5,221

5,164

Later than five years

11,184

12,511

Total PFI scheme commitments

17,675

18,931

PFI scheme charges to the operating expenses

7.8.2 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme commitments
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7.8.3 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme
details

7.13 Intangible fixed assets

Year ending
2011

Year ending
2011

Years

Years

Total length of project (years)

25

Gross cost at 1 April 2010

Number of years to the end of the
project

13

Additions - purchased

80

Gross cost at 31 March 2011

80

Amortisation at 1 April 2010

53

7.9 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest)
Act 1998

Provided during the year

14

Amortisation at 31 March 2011

67

Nil interest was charged to the Trust in the year for late
payment of commercial debts.

Gross cost at 1 April 2009

80

Estimated capital value of project

5572

Additions - purchased
7.10 Finance income
Interest received in the year amounted to £17k (March
2010, £12k)
7.11 Public Dividend Capital
Public dividend capital dividends paid to the Department of
Health of £938k (2009-10, £989k)

Gross cost at 31 March 2010

80

Amortisation at 1 April 2009

40

Provided during the year

13

Amortisation at 31 March 2010

53

Net book value

Purchased at 31 March 2010
7.12 Taxation
The activities of the Trust have not given rise to any
corporation tax liability in the year (2009-10; nil).

27

Net book value

Purchased at 31 March 2011

13

Valuation and economic useful lives:
The valuation basis for intangible fixed assets is described
in note 1.6 to the accounts. The economic useful lives of
intangibles are finite and are described in note 1.6 to the
accounts. The economic useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are finite and are described in note 1.6 to the
accounts.
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7.14 Property, plant and equipment

Gross cost at 1 April 2010

Land

Building
(excluding
Dwellings)

Plant
and
machinery

IT

Fixtures
and
Fittings

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

8,568

19,612

554

884

752

30,370

2,939

67

92

116

3,214

Additions - purchases
Impairments

(430)

(5,441)

-

-

-

(5,871)

Gross Cost at 31 March 2011

8,138

17,111

621

976

868

27,713

Depreciation at 1 April 2010

-

3,410

276

490

377

4,553

Impairments

-

(3,260)

-

-

-

(3,260)

Provided during the year

-

496

42

144

103

785

Depreciation at 31 March 2011

-

645

318

634

480

2,078

8,568

15,866

278

393

375

25,480

-

336

-

-

-

336

8,568

16,203

278

393

375

25,817

8,138

16,164

303

341

388

25,334

-

301

-

-

-

301

8,138

16,465

303

341

388

25,635

8,138

16,465

-

-

-

24,603

-

303

341

388

1,032

16,465

303

341

388

25,635

Net Book Value

Purchased at 31 March 2010
Donated at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010
Net Book Value

Purchased at 31 March 2011
Donated at 31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011
Net Book Value

Protected assets at
31 March 2011
Unprotected assets at
31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011

8,138

7.14.1 Valuation at the reporting date
The land and buildings were valued at the reporting date
by the independent valuer, the District Valuation Service
‘DVS’. The purpose of this exercise being to determine a
fair value for the Trust property, as detailed in accounting
policy note 1.7 ‘Property, plant and equipment, note 1.17
‘Accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty and
note 1.18 Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies’.
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The surpluses and deficits upon the revaluation exercise
resulted in the following impairments being charged to
operating expenses within the statement of comprehensive
income.
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7.14.2 Impairments of property, plant and equipment charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

7.14.4 Revaluation gains / (losses) on property, plant
and equipment

Year ended
31 March 2011

Year ended
31 March 2011

Years

£’000

Heath Lane Hospital
Delta House

1,610

Surpluses / (deficits) due to
revaluation of property
recognised in other
comprehensive income

95
1,705

Revaluation
reserve

Land

(430)

Buildings

(476)

The surpluses and deficits upon the revaluation exercise
resulted in the following gains and losses being charged to
the revaluation reserves; see the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity on page 9 of the financial statements.

(906)

7.14.3 Gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed asset

The impairment results from the District Valuation Service
utilising the Modern Equivalent Asset valuation
methodology.

Loss on disposal of Hillcrest/Garden Lodge of £84k (200910, Gain £106).

7.15 Contractual capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment contractual capital
commitments were £56k (2009-10, £290k).

7.16 Trade and other receivables

Current

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

NHS receivables

781

1,193

-

-

Receivables with other related parties

950

1,509

-

-

Provision for impaired receivables

(33)

(21)

-

-

Prepayments

292

520

-

-

Accrued income

215

86

-

-

Other receivables

385

310

-

-

2,590

3,597

-

-

NHS receivables consist of balances owed by NHS bodies in
England; receivables with other related parties consist of
balances owed by other HM Government organisations.
Related party transactions are detailed in note 27 on page
37.

Included within trade and other receivables are balances
with a carrying amount of £960k (31 March 2010: £970k)
which are past due at the reporting date but for which no
specific provision has been made as they are considered to
be recoverable based on previous trading history.
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7.16.1 Aged analysis of impaired receivable

Current

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

By up to three months

-

-

-

-

By three to six months

-

-

-

-

33

21

-

-

33

21

-

-

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

By more than six months

7.16.2 Aged analysis of non-impaired receivables past their due dates

Current

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

By up to three months

645

358

-

-

By three to six months

211

243

-

-

By more than six months

105

369

-

-

961

970

-

-

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

7.16.2 Provisions for impaired receivables

Current

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

Balance at 1 April

21

39

-

-

Increase in provision

12

-

-

-

Amounts utilised

-

(18)

-

-

Unused amounts reversed

-

-

-

-

33

21

-

-

By up to three months

-

-

-

-

By three to six months

-

-

-

-

33

21

-

-

33

21

-

-

Movement in the provision for impaired
receivables

Aged analysis of impaired receivables

By more than six months
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7.17 Cash and cash equivalents

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

3,263

4,912

3,304

4,077

Commercial banks and cash in hand

(41)

835

Cash and cash equivalents as in SOFP

3,263

4,912

Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service

-

-

Bank overdraft - Commercial banks

-

-

3,263

4,912

Cash and cash equivalents

Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service

Cash and cash equivalents as in SOCF

7.17.1. Third party assets

18. Non-current assets held for sale

The Trust held £478k cash at bank at 31 March 2011
(£502k at 31 March 2010) which relates to monies held by
the NHS Foundation Trust on behalf of patients. This has
been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure
reported in the statement of financial position.

The Trust has no non-current assets held for sale (31 March
2010, £nil)

7.19 Trade and other payables

Current

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

NHS payables

940

662

-

-

Amounts due to other related parties

743

861

-

-

Trade payables - capital

491

647

-

-

Other trade payables

690

878

-

-

Other payables

388

358

-

-

Accruals

472

963

-

-

Trust local government pension liability

-

-

501

1,123

Provisions for liabilities and charges

-

-

38

92

3,724

4,369

539

1,215
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NHS payables consist of balances owed to NHS bodies in
England; amounts due to other related parties consist of
balances owed to other HM Government organisations.
Related party transactions are detailed in note 27 on page
37.

The provision for liabilities and charges of £38k above is in
relation to untaken annual leave for employees of the
Trust.

7.19.1 Trust local government pension liability breakdown

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

(656)

(1,278)

155

155

(501)

(1,123)

Year ending
31 March
2011

Year ending
31 March
2010

%

%

Discount rate

5.65

7.00

Expected long-term return on plan assets

6.88

6.51

Rate of salary increase

5.35

5.25

Rate of pension increase

3.60

3.50

Inflation assumption

3.60

3.50

Gross Local government pension liability
SMBC Liability
Trust Local government pension liability

7.19.2 The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in normal terms)

7.19.3 The assets in the scheme (£’000) and the expected rate of return (%) were:

Expected Plan assets
rate of return at 31 March
2011
%

£’ 000

%

£’ 000

Equities/absolute return

7.50

2,271

7.50

2,225

Government bonds

4.40

320

4.50

258

Other bonds

5.40

232

5.20

234

Property/infrastructure

6.50

372

6.50

283

Other

0.50

69

0.50

39

6.79%

3,264

6.88%

3,039

Present value of funded obligations
Funded Surplus/(Deficit)

84

Expected Plan assets
rate of return at 31 March
2011

(3,920)

(4,317)

(656)

(1,278)
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7.22 Contingencies

The figures stated above for the Trust local government
pension liability are as at 31 March 2011 on an FRS 17
Actuarial Valuation from Mercer Ltd.

Contingent liabilities of £44k at 31 March 2011 relating to
amounts notified by the NHSLA for potential employer and
public liability claims (March 2010, £nil).

7.20 Provision for legal claims
There was no provision for legal claims outstanding against
the Trust for employers and third party liabilities. It is at
present uncertain as to the probable timing and amount of
any exchange of economic benefit to the claimants whilst
the matters are processed by the courts. The values have
been estimated based upon the probabilities established by
the NHS litigation authority.

7.23 Taxes payables
Current taxes payable is £761k (March 2011, £723)
7.24 Other liabilities
Current other liabilities is £611k (March 2011, £871k)

7.21 Clinical negligence liabilities
There was no provision of the NHS litigation authority in
respect of clinical negligence liabilities of Sandwell Mental
Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust.
(2009-10, £108k)

7.25 Prudential borrowing limit

Limits set by Monitor

Current

Non current
31 March
31 March
2011
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

0

0

9,300

9,200

3700

3700

-

-

3700

3700

9,300

9,200

Long term borrowing at 1st April

-

-

-

-

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year long term

-

-

-

-

Long term borrowing at 31st March

-

-

-

-

Working capital borrowing at 31st March

-

-

-

-

Total long term borrowing
Working capital facility
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The Trust is required to comply and remain within a
prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two
elements:
• the maximum cumulative amount of long term
borrowing. This is set by reference to the four ratios test
set out in Monitor's Prudential Borrowing Code. The
financial risk rating set under Monitor's Compliance
Framework determines one of the ratios and therefore
can impact on the long term borrowing limit.

can be found on the website of Monitor, the Independent
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.
The ratio tests used to determine the maximum long term
borrowing limit and the Trust’s performance against them
is set out below. The Trust is measured against Monitor's
Tier 2 limits.
The Trust has achieved the four ratios laid down by
Monitor in the Prudential Borrowing Code.

• the amount of any working capital facility approved by
Monitor.
Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust
Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework

There has been no necessity to make use of the Trust’s
Prudential Borrowing Limit or use its overdraft.

7.25.1 PBL Ratio

Tier 2 limits
0.15

31 March
2011
0%

31 March
2011
0%

Minimum Dividend Cover

1x

1x

1x

Minimum Interest Cover

3x

0x

0x

Minimum Debt Service Cover

2x

100x

100x

0.03

0%

0%

Maximum Debt/Capital Ratio

Minimum Debt Service to Revenue

7.26 Events after the reporting period
Following changes in the NHS resulting from the
Transforming Community Services agenda further services
have been, or are planned to be incorporated into the
Trust during 2011/12.
Learning Disabilities services formerly provided by NHS
Walsall were transferred to the Trust on 1st April 2011,
representing an additional income stream of c.£4.2m, and
c. 60 WTE staff.

Expected to transfer on 1 August 2011 are Mental Health
and Learning Disabilities services from Wolverhampton
PCT, c. £35m income recurrently (£2.4m non-recurrent
funding to support transfer) and c. 800 WTE staff. Also
expected to transfer on 1 August 2011 is Learning
Disabilities and Children and Young Families from NHS
Dudley, c. £15m income and c. 280 WTE staff. The above
income figures are the FYE values which for 2011-12 will
be pro-rated.
A summary of the proposed acquisitions are shown in the
table below:

2011/12 Planned Acquisitions
Organisation

Approximate Value

WTE

Wolverhamton PCT

£37.4m

800

NHS Dudley

£15.0m

280

Walsall PCT

£4.2m

60

£56.6m

1140

Total
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These major developments will significantly change mental
health and learning disability services across the Black
Country and offer the opportunity for them to improve.
The lack of economies of scale has meant that for years all
the Black Country boroughs have had major gaps in their
service provision which the Sandwell Mental Health and
Social Care NHS Foundation Trust will now be able to
bridge.
This development will ultimately deliver more efficient and
effective care to our clients and service users as well as
bringing greater opportunities to our staff.
During 2010-11 the Trust incurred £281k in relation to
preparing for merging and integrated the expected services
transferring to the Trust. The breakdown of this amount is
found at note 3.2 on page 37.

7.27 Related party transactions
Sandwell Mental Health NHS and Social Care Trust is a
body corporate established by order of the Secretary of
State for Health. During the year none of the Board
Members or members of the key management staff or
parties related to them has undertaken any material
transactions with Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care
NHS Foundation Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.
During the year Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care
NHS Foundation Trust have had a significant number of
material transactions with the Department, and with other
key entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department. These entities are listed in the table
below:

Receivables

Payables

Revnue

Expenditure

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

£’ 000

-

1

-

-

701

373

41,540

169

1,314

1,508

8,409

2,287

NHS Trusts

34

236

620

593

SHAs

43

3

1,318

3

FTs

3

93

44

719

NHSBSA

-

234

-

1,076

82

-

-

-

1

15

5

25

2,178

2,463

51,936

4,872

NHS in England

DH
PCTs
Local Authorities

HMRC
Charitable Fund
Total

7.28 Financial Instruments
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures require disclosure of the
role that financial instruments have had during the period
in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in
undertaking its activities.
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one company and a financial liability or
equity instrument in another company.
The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments
and does not hold or issue financial instruments for
speculative trading purposes and because of the
continuing service provider relationship the Trust has with
Primary Care Trusts and the way those Primary Care Trusts
are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities.

Financial instruments play a much more limited role in
creating or changing risk than would be typical of the
listed companies to which IFRS 7 mainly applies. Due to
the Trust’s terms of authorization it has limited powers to
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities
rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust
in undertaking its activities.
The Trust's financial instruments comprise provisions, cash
at bank and in hand and various items, such as trade
debtors and trade creditors that arise directly from its
operations. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Trust's operations.
7.28.1 Financial risk
Due to the continuing service provider relationship that the
Trust has with primary care trusts (PCTs) and the way those
PCTs are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree
of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial
87

Sandwell Mental Health & Social Care NHS Foundation Trust

7.28.4 Credit risk

instruments play a much more limited role in creating or
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.

The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and
receives the majority of its income from other NHS
organisations as disclosed in Note 26. Bad debt provisions
are calculated based on the Trust’s bad debt provision
policy which considers the type of debtor, age of the
outstanding debt and knowledge of specific balances.

The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus
funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by
day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.

7.28.5 Liquidity risk

7.28.2 Interest rate risk

The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual
service level agreements with local Primary Care Trusts
which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The Trust also largely finances its capital
expenditure from funds made available from Government
under agreed borrowing limits. Sandwell Mental Health
and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust are not therefore
exposed to significant liquidity risk compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way each individual case is
handled.

The majority of the Trust's financial assets and financial
liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. Sandwell
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust are
not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
7.28.3 Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organization with the
great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in
the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas
operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to
currency rate fluctuations.

7.28.6 Carrying values and fair values of financial instruments

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

31 March
2011

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

31 March
2010

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cash and cash equivalents

3,263

3,263

4,912

4,912

Trade and receivables

2,298

2,298

3,102

3,102

5,561

5,561

8,014

8,014

-

-

-

-

5,561

5,561

8,014

8,014

(3,724)

(3,724)

(4,370)

(4,370)

(501)

(501)

(1,123)

(1,123)

(4,225)

(4,225)

(5,493)

(5,493)

1,336

1,336

2,521

2,521

Current financial assets

Non-current financial assets

Trade and receivables
Total financial assets
Current financial liabilities

Trade and other payables
Non-current financial liabilities

Other payables
Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets / (liabilities)
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7.29 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise.
They are therefore subject to special control procedures
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant
functional headings in the Income and Expenditure
Account on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had NHS
Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).
There were 3 cases of losses and special payments totalling
three hundred pounds (2009-10, one thousand one
hundred and forty-six pounds.
7.30 Preparation of the Accounts
The accounts and report have been prepared in
accordance with directions issued from Monitor the
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, in
exercise of powers conferred in it by paragraph 25 (1)
schedule 7 of the NHS Act 2006.
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Eating Disorders Team raising
awareness at a local gym
90
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8.Independent
Auditors’ report

Winners of the Trust's badminton tournament
receive medals from director Andy Green
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9. Quality Report

Governor Tom Scott at a
Quality Council meeting

94
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9.1 Statement by the Chief Executive
I am pleased to present the Quality Report for
2010/11. The Trust is committed to continuously
improving the quality of all the services that we
provide. We have established great foundations to
build on as we look to improve things further in
2011/12.
The improvements delivered over the last year and
described in this Quality Report are indicative of the
efforts put in by staff across the Trust. Thanks to their
contribution, we have delivered achievements against
priorities for improvement set in our 2009/10 Quality
Report and secured the Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation (CQUIN) income that was dependent
on a number of these priorities.
The Make a Difference Group sponsored in 2009/10,
continue to meet monthly. They have completed the
development of a questionnaire to elicit feedback
form people using the Trust’s services and have
progressed to interviewing service users and carers.
The information gathered from these interviews has
been used to help managers and clinicians develop
the Directorate Quality Improvement plans that truly
reflect what people who use our services would like
to see improved. This is a unique group of service
users who have received training in questionnaires
develomnet and audit methodology to provide them
with the skills to support the invaluable work.
The Quality Council established in 2009/10 has
continued to grow from strength to strength. It
continues to meet twice yearly in March and October.
The themes for the meetings to date have been
quality initiatives in the Trust (with a display
showcasing innovative work undertaken in the Trust),
and service user involvement. The Board of Directors
sees the Quality Council as a major forum for
engaging with members and governors on the
subject of quality. It provides an opportunity for key
stakeholders to offer a challenge to the organisation
in respect of its internally generated view of quality.

The Trust has continued to undertake monthly Service
Quality Review Meetings with senior officers of the
Trust and senior members of the Primary Care Trust.
These meetings provide an opportunity for our
commissioners to regularly monitor the quality of the
services offered. It has also been agreed that
commissioners would undertake ward inspections
throughout the year and produce reports with
recommendations for improvements.
Throughout 2010/11 the Trust has continued to work
on the initiative commenced in 2009 called The
Productive Mental Health Ward that focuses on
finding ways to increase the amount of direct care
time given to people who use mental health inpatient
services. The programme is designed to improve the
safety and effectiveness of mental health wards. This
scheme is an excellent example of how high quality
care can be achieved alongside improvements in
productivity.
Last year we identified a number of areas where we
wanted to show improvements. Below is an account
of how we are doing in these areas and our plans for
future activities during 2011 and into 2012.
In publishing this report the Board of Directors have
reviewed its content and verified the accuracy of the
details contained therein. I therefore confirm, in
accordance with my statutory duty, that to the best
of my knowledge, the information provided in this
Quality Report is accurate.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive
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9.2 Priorities for Improvement
9.2.1 Smoking Cessation
In 2009/10, the Board of Directors identified a local
health economy priority where approximately 30% of
the general population continue to smoke. It is likely
that this figure will be higher for people using our
services. An increase in the numbers of patients
quitting smoking / reducing tobacco use will lead to
reduction in ill health, premature mortality and
healthcare need.
During 2009/10, work focused primarily on inpatient
areas and it was agreed that for 2010/11 this should
be extended to ensure people attending outpatient
appointments have access to information and
support to stop smoking. It was therefore agreed to
provide patients attending outpatient clinics, who
were recorded as smokers / users of tobacco, with a
brief intervention to reduce tobacco use including
being given written advice as per NICE guidance.
Table 1 Below shows our performance in this area

9.2.2 Providing better information on
medicines for patients and their carers
National surveys of people who use mental health
services consistently show they have a perception
that they do not receive adequate information about

the side effects of prescribed medication. Inadequate
information is often cited by people who use services
as a factor which may contribute to poor adherence
with medication regimes, including prematurely
stopping taking the prescribed medication. Providing
patients and their carers with written information
when they receive new medications and any potential
side effects will greatly improve compliance and
therefore outcomes. Cessation of medication by
patients due to side effects and inappropriate action
thereafter has a big impact on patients and the
mental health service.
In the self-assessment carried out in 2009/10 in
preparation for the organisation’s application for
registration with the Care Quality Commission,
paucity of information in relation to medicines was
acknowledged as a shortfall by the Board of
Directors.
The Board therefore supported a scheme that would
increase the amount of information people received
when they were given new medication. The provision
of information would be measured by audits
conducted twice during the year. This data would
give the Board a baseline against which improvement
could be measured. See Table 2 below.

Table 1: Interventions to reduce tobacco use
Requirement

Baseline Audit
QTR 2 2010

2nd Re-Audit
QTR 4 2011

90% of smokers / users of
tobacco attending outpatient
clinics to receive a brief
intervention to reduce tobacco
use

58% of smokers / users of
tobacco attending outpatient
clinics received a brief
intervention to reduce tobacco
use

100% of smokers / users of
tobacco attending outpatient
clinics received a brief
intervention to reduce tobacco
use

Table 2: Patients receiving information on a new medication
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Requirement

Baseline Audit
May 2010

2nd Re-Audit
Jan 2011

Patients receiving new
medication to be provided with
an information leaflet

6 out of 40
15%

23 out of 25
92%
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9.2.3 Understanding and improving the
experience of service users
In 2009/10, the Board of Directors recognised that
auditing the quality of the experience of people who
use our inpatient services has provided a wealth of
information which helped to inform priorities in a
number of areas. The Board agreed that this work
which cuts across a number of the priority areas
identified in the previous Quality Report should
continue to be an activity that supports quality
improvement. The most practical source of data
collection would be through the completion of a
questionnaire and although this is a continuous
process, specific audits were undertaken twice during
the year. See Table 3 below.

9.2.4 Looking Ahead - Priorities for
Improvement 2011/12
2011/12 will be a challenging year with the
establishment of the newly configured Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. The Board will aim to
ensure the vision of Transforming Community Services is
embedded throughout the organisation to provide
better health outcomes for patients, families and
communities and to become more efficient, by providing
modern, personalised, and responsive care of a
consistently high quality that is accessible to all.
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust undertook a process of involvement
and engagement with key stakeholders to establish
views on priorities for improvement in 2011/12. These
priorities reflect the three domains of quality set out in
‘High Quality Care for All’.

9.2.5 West Midlands Quality Review for
Dementia, Acute In-patient Mental Health and
Learning Disability Services
The Board of Directors has consented to reviews of the
Trust’s services by the West Midlands Quality Review
Service (WMQRS) as these quality standards are designed

to improve the quality of health services for service users,
their families and carers.
More specifically the standards will ensure that:
- Service users, their families and carers will know more
about services they can expect
- Commissioners will have better service specifications
- Service providers and commissioners will work
together to improve service quality
- Quality review visits will give an independent view of
service quality
- Reviewers will learn from taking part in review visits
- Good practice will be shared
- Service providers and commissioners will have better
information to give to the Care Quality Commission
and Monitor
The reviews will require the submission of evidence in
respect of the different standards prior to visits by an
inspection team. Inspectors will carry out site inspections
and hold interviews with managers, staff and service
users. WMQRS will then present their findings and
assessment of these services to the Trust.

9.2.6 Understanding and improving the
experience of service users
The Board of Directors is committed to continuing and
developing systems to receive continual feedback
about the quality of the experience of people who use
our inpatient services. Previous years have provided a
wealth of information which helped to inform priorities
in a number of areas.
The Board agreed that this work should continue to be
an activity that supports quality improvement. The most
practical source of data collection will be through the
completion of a questionnaire and specific audits will
be undertaken twice during the year to measure the
progress to inform the Board as well as local clinical
practice and service users groups.

Table 3: inpatient satisfaction surveys completed
Requirement

Baseline Audit
May 2010

2nd Re-Audit
Jan 2011

Patients receiving hospital based
mental health services
completed questionnaires on
level of satisfaction with service

19 inpatients surveyed
score of 66%

20 inpatients surveyed
score of 81%
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9.2.7 Safety - Absconds

9.3 Statements of Assurance from the Board

In 2008/09 the number of absconds by patients from
inpatients areas was 146. In 2000/10 the number was
132 and in 2010/11 it rose again to 162. The majority
of all absconds originate from the three wards at
Hallam Street Hospital and the level of risk to self and
others is mainly moderate or low. Nonetheless, the
Trust recognises the need for work to be undertaken in
this area to reduce the continuing upward trend. A
project has already begun to address this issue by
asking all staff working on these wards for their views
and ideas on reducing the current number of absconds.

9.3.1 Review of services

This work will continue during 2011/12 to look at
- the motivators for leaving: what reason did people
give for leaving
- why and how people left what made it possible for
people to abscond / how they left
- tisks: processes in place that made absconding
possible/more likely
- solution / potential solutions to reduce the number
of absconds taking place from Hallam Street
Hospital.
Regular reporting of absconds via the Trust’s Datix
Incident Reporting System will ensure the progress and
success of this project will be monitored by the
Operational Risk Group throughout 2011/12.

During 2010/11 Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust provided services for both
inpatient and community services for people with
mental health problems and people with learning
disabilities. The Trust has reviewed all the data available
to them on the quality of care in all of these services.
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in
2010/11 represents 100% of the total income
generated from the provision of NHS services by the
Trust.

9.3.2 Participation in clinical audits
During 2010/11, 5 national clinical audits and 0
national confidential enquiry covered NHS services
provided by Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care
NHS Foundation Trust (SMHFT).
During that period the Trust participated in 100% of
the national clinical audits and 100% of the national
confidential enquiries which it was eligible to
participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries that the Trust was eligible to participate in
during 2010/11 are as follows:

Table 4: National clinical audits and confidential enquiries held in 2010/11
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HQIP

National Audit of Psychological Therapies for Anxiety and Depression

NICE

National NICE Audit for Health and Work

NCI

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental
Illness

HQIP

National Falls and Bone Health Audit

POMH

Topic 1e Prescribing of high dose and combination antipsychotics on adult
acute wards

POMH

Topic 2e Screening for metabolic side effects of anti-psychotic drugs

POMH

Topic 7b Lithium Monitoring

POMH

Topic 8b Medicines Reconciliation

POMH

Topic 10a Prescribing anti-psychotics for children and adolescents
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The national clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries that Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care
NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which
data collection was completed during 2010/11, are

listed below alongside the number of cases submitted
to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number
of registered cases required by the terms of that audit
or enquiry.

Table 5: Clinical Audits and Confidential Inquiries Participated in 2010/11
Title

Start

Finish

Criteria

Cases
Submitted

POMH-UK Topic 1e
Prescribing of high
dose and combination
antipsychotics on adult
acute wards

Feb 2010

April 2010

Data for all patients within the period
4 January - 5 February 2010, who occupied
a bed and were being prescribed one or
more anti-psychotic drugs.

100%

POMH-UK Topic 2e
Screening for
metabolic side effects
of anti-psychotic drugs

Feb 2010

April 2010

AOTs were asked to review the clinical
records of every patient on their case load
who was prescribed anti-psychotic drugs
during the audit period April 2010

100%

POMH-UK Topic 7b
Lithium Monitoring

Feb 2010

Sept 2010

Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium 13
teams, patient records from April 2009March 2010

100%

POMH-UK Topic 10a
Prescribing antipsychotics for children
and adolescents

June 2010

Sept 2010

All children and adolescents prescribed antipsychotic medication

100%

POMH-UK
Topic 8b
Medicines
Reconciliation

Aug 2010

Nov 2010

Recommended minimum sample: 5 recent
100%
consecutive admissions to each participating
ward, which had stayed for at least 7 days.
A minimum of 5 patients per ward, recently
admitted and stayed for at least 7 days

National Falls and Bone Aug 2010
Health Organisational
Audit

Sept 2010

Participated in organisation audit but
mental health excluded from clinical audit

100%

National Audit of
Psychological
Therapies for Anxiety
and Depression
Part 1.
Service Questionnaire

May 2010

Oct 2010

By every service providing or delivering NHS
funded psychological therapies for anxiety
and / or depression in primary and / or
secondary care. 1 x service questionnaire
submitted for Primary Care Liaison Service

100%

Part 2.
Therapists Survey

June 2010

Dec 2010

Every therapist / worker, whose service is
taking part in NAPT. 29 x therapists took
part but the Trust experienced problems
participating in this audit due to staff
sickness

0%
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The Trust uses clinical audit and participation in
national confidential enquiries as a driver for
improvements in quality. The Trust aims to ensure
that all clinical professional groups participate in
clinical audit.

The reports of five national clinical audits were
reviewed by the Trust in 2010/11 and the Trust
intends to take the following actions, shown in Table
6 below, to improve the quality of healthcare
provided.

Table 5: Clinical Audits and Confidential Inquiries Participated in 2010/11 (continued)
Title

Start

Finish

Criteria

Cases
Submitted

Part 3.
Retrospective Audit

Dec 2010

Feb 2011

Trust experienced problems participating in
this audit due to staff sickness

0%

National NICE Audit for Nov 2010
Health and Work

Jan 2010

On-line organisation audit tool

100%

National confidential
inquiry into Suicide and
Homicide by people
with mental illness

2010

Information is provided on request

100%

Table 6: Actions arising from audits 2010/11
Title

100

Report Actions Taken

HCC Schizophrenia

3

Audit of information held on Trust system / re-circulation
of relevant policies / review of CPA supervision tool /
revision of standard letter sent to service users

National Continence Audit

3

Attendance at the National Audit of Continence Care to
obtain additional information for Good Practice

POMH Topic 1e Prescribing of high dose
and combination anti-psychotics on
adult acute wards

3

Improvement on last audit discussed at D&T Committee

POMH Topic 2e Screening for metabolic
side effects of
anti-psychotic drugs

3

Poor results but improvement since

POMH Topic 7b Lithium Monitoring

3

Generate discussion on how to improve particularly
weight checks / BMI

POM Topic 10a Prescribing antipsychotics for children and adolescents

3

Mixed results but continued monitoring

POMH Topic 8b Medicines
Reconciliation

3

Small sample
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The reports of 13 local clinical audits were reviewed in
2010/11 and Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care
NHS Foundation Trust intend to take the following
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.
• Programme of additional training for staff
• Detailed discussion at relevant committees to
ensure actions are embedded
• Completion of multidisciplinary audits
• Provision of workshops on record keeping
Information from the National Confidential Inquiry into
Suicide and Homicide by people with mental illness
indicated that the response rate for SMHFT was 100%
which compares with a national average of 97.36%.
The response rate for Sudden Unexplained Death Study
(SUDS) for SMHFT was 100% which compares to a
national average of 95.60%.
A paper produced by NHS West Midlands, following an
overview of suicides throughout England, identified
that Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust was one of two Trusts that had the
lowest suicide figures and indicated that both Trusts are
following best practice from the National Suicide
Prevention Strategy for England (updated 2008).

9.3.3 Participation in clinical research
The number of patients receiving NHS services provided
or sub-contracted by the Trust in 2010/11 that were
recruited during that period to participate in research
approved by a research ethics committee was 45.
Participation in clinical research demonstrates the
Trust’s commitment to improving the quality of care we
offer and to making our contribution to wider health
improvement. Our engagement with clinical research
also demonstrates the Trust’s commitment to testing
and offering the latest treatments and techniques. It
further ensures that our clinical staff stay abreast of the
latest possible treatment possibilities and active
participation in research leads to successful patient
outcomes.
The level of research activity has prompted an
agreement with both the Birmingham & Black Country
Comprehensive Local Research Network and the
Mental Health Research Network for a full time Clinical
Studies Officer (CSO) to work at the Trust for a trial
period of twelve months. This is the first time that a
research post has been created for the Trust. The CSO’s
main duties will be to promote research throughout the
Trust and to assist clinicians with current trials and new
projects in order to increase recruitment levels.

9.3.4 Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN) Framework
A proportion of the Sandwell Mental Health and Social
Care NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2010/11 was
conditional on achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals agreed between the Trust and any
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement
or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services,
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
Payment Framework (CQUIN). Further details of the
agreed goals for 2010/11 and for the following 12
month period are available online at:
http://www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/modules/fcked
itor/plugins/ktbrowser/

9.3.5 Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) and its current registration
status is, Registered with no conditions applied.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken any
enforcement action against the Trust as of the 31st
March 2011.
The Trust has not participated in any special reviews or
investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.

9.3.6 Data Quality
NHS Number and General Medical Practice
Code Validity
The Trust submitted records during 2010/11 to the
Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital
Episode Statistics which are included in the latest
published data. The percentage of records in the
published data, which included the patient’s valid NHS
number, was 99.0% for admitted patient care and
99.9% for out patient care.
The percentage of records in the published data, which
included the patients valid General Medical Practice
Code was 100% for admitted patient care and 100%
for out patient care.

Information Governance Toolkit attainment
levels 2010/11
The Trust’s Information Governance Assessment Report
overall score for 2010/11 was 59% and was graded
red. This is shown in Table 7 on page 102.
Feedback from these audits will be used to identify
areas for local quality improvements for the
forthcoming year.
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The Information Governance Statement of Compliance
is a formal document setting out obligations on
organisations to have the necessary infrastructure and
information governance requirements in place. There are
22 key standards on which specific assurance is sought
to confirm that the Trust has robust and effective
systems in place for handling information securely and
confidentially. The Trust has attained at least the
minimum required rating of level two in each of these
key standards.
The Trust aims to deliver a standard of excellence in
Information Governance by ensuring that information is
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively in
order to deliver the best possible care to our service
users. The Information Governance Toolkit sets national
standards for achievement to ensure that organisations
maintain high levels of security and confidentiality of
information at all times.
The Trust will take the following actions to improve data
quality :1. A Roll out of Monitor identifiers and outcomes data
integrity reporting showing missing required data
including NHS Number
2. Development and roll out of CPA 12 month formal
review monitoring
3. Remodelling of current manual performance
housekeeping / checking process using new web
business objects

Clinical Coding Error Rate
The Trust was subject to the Payment by Results clinical
coding audit during March 2010. The error rates
reported in the latest published audit for that period for
diagnosis and treatment coding (clinical coding) were:
• Primary diagnosis correct
• Secondary Diagnosis correct

Clinical data must be accurately and consistently
recorded to well defined national standards to enable it
to be used for statistical analysis. Information drawn
from accurate clinical coding better reflects the pattern
of practice of clinicians and provides a sound basis for
the decision making process. Of the 97 episodes
audited, 0 were unsafe to audit.

9.4 Review of Quality Performance
Two of the indicators for safety have changed from
2009/10. Changes to the two indicators Physical
health checks for patients with a length of stay for
6 months and Reduction of violence and aggression
experienced by staff and service users were made as
we were unable to establish data collections and
reporting systems in a timely fashion.

9.4.1 Safety - Review of the number and nature
of safeguarding referrals made
As people with mental health difficulties and learning
disabilities may be vulnerable, the Trust completed a
piece of work to develop robust safeguarding referral
systems to increase the number of referrals. The number
of referrals increased from 21 in 2008/09 to 127 referrals
in 2009/10 to 184 in 2010/11.

Table 7: Information Governance Assessment Report 2010/11
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91.92%
49.28%

Initiative

Results

Information Governance Management

60%

Confidentiality and Data Protection Assurance

62%

Information Security Assurance

64%

Clinical Information Assurance

53%

Secondary Use Assurance

58%

Corporate Information Assurance

33%

Overall

59%
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9.4.2 Safety - The correct usage of Lithium in
line with national best practice

The dramatic increase in recorded incidents over the last
three years correlates directly to the increased investment
by the Trust into this priority area. In 2009, the Trust
invested in a new software incident reporting system for
clinical areas. This was swiftly followed by the
appointment of a full time Named Nurse for
Safeguarding Adults and Children. In 2010, a further full
time Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults and Children
was appointed to reflect the Trust’s continued
commitment to doing everything it reasonably can to
protect vulnerable adults in its care.

Lithium has been used as a mood stabiliser for many
years and can be used to treat both manic and
depressive episodes. Lithium is a safe drug when taken
at the correct dose. The difficulty is getting the level of
Lithium in the body right as the amount of Lithium in the
blood is very sensitive to levels of water in the body.
Regular blood tests are therefore required to check the
amount of Lithium in the body and to ensure the kidneys
and thyroid gland are working properly. Testing is
required weekly for newly commenced patients but less
frequently for established patients.
The quality improvement target for the correct usage of
Lithium in line with national best practice involved three
audits carried out at identified intervals in all inpatient
areas and to improve on the baseline audit in May 2010
by 20%.

The extra resources have resulted in an increase in staff
awareness and training as well as improved and
increased reporting using the new incident reporting
system. The Named Nurses investigate and instigate a
review of each case. The nature of referrals has so far
been classified into the following main categories:
physical abuse, financial abuse, sexual Abuse, absconds
but this work is continuing as more data becomes
available.

Table 8a: Correct usage of Lithium – baseline audit May 2010

Hospital

Type of Patients

Number

Heath Lane

Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed

4
1
0
1
4
0
10

Hallam Street
Edward Street

Percentage
Achieved

Weighted
Average

45%
100%
N/A
83%
25%
N/A

180%
100%
83%
100%
463%
46%

Overall weighted average

Table 8b: Correct usage of Lithium – first re-audit October 2010

Hospital

Type of Patients

Number

Heath Lane

Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed

1
0
5
0
3
0
1
0
10

Hallam Street
Edward Street
Newton House

Overall weighted average

Percentage
Achieved

Weighted
Average

75%
N/A
57%
N/A
48%
N/A
71%
N/A

75%
N/A
283%
N/A
143%
N/A
71%
N/A
572%
57%
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9.4.3 Safety - Delayed and missed doses of
medication

There has been also been a slight change in emphasis
regarding the indicator Formalising regular service
user feedback with regards to dignity and respect.
This has already been covered earlier in priorities for
improvement so the indicator has been amended to
include Understanding and improving the
experience of community mental health service
users instead.

Medicine doses can be omitted or delayed in hospital
for a variety of reasons including non-availability of
medicines. Although these incidents do not often lead
to significant harm, the omission of critical medicines
has the potential to result in severe harm to patients
and the Trust is committed to learning as much it can
from theses occurrences both nationally and locally.
The quality improvement required three audits to be
carried out at identified intervals in Adult Outpatients
and to improve on the baseline audit at May 2010 by
10%. See Table 9 below

9.4.4 Patient Experience - PEAT Scores
Key individuals in the Trust worked closely with
facilities staff and contractors to monitor and improve
the patient environment, quality of food and privacy
and dignity for service users. The aim was to ensure
that the PEAT scores achieved were at least good.
These scores were achieved in 2009 but
unfortunately were not sustained for 2010. An action
plan was developed to address theses issues and the
scores improved in 2011. The Trust PEAT scores are
shown in Table 10 opposite.

One of the indicators for patient experience has
changed from 2009/10. The change to the indicator
Undertaking quality of life audits with people
with learning disabilities and older people was
made as we were unable to establish data collections
and reporting systems in a timely fashion.

Table 8c: Correct usage of Lithium – Second re-audit January 2011
Hospital

Type of Patients

Number

Heath Lane

Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed
Existing
Newly Prescribed

1
0
4
0
0
0
1
0
6

Hallam Street
Edward Street
Newton House

Percentage
Achieved

Weighted
Average

100%
N/A
71%
N/A
N/A
N/A
100%
N/A

100%
N/A
286%
N/A
N/A
N/A
100%
N/A
486%
81%

Overall weighted average

Table 9: Delayed and missed doses of medication 2010/11
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Requirement

Baseline Audit
May 2010

Re-Audit
Sept 2010

2nd Re-Audit
Jan 2011

Patients with missed or
delayed doses critical
medication

0 out of 151
0.0%

1 out of 141
0.7%

0 out of 100
0.0%

Patients with missed or
delayed doses non-critical
medication

13 out of 151
8.6%

8 out of 141
5.6%

4 out of 100
4%

Annual Report & Accounts: April 2010 - March 2011

Patient Experience - Understanding and
improving the experience of community
mental health service users

Patient Experience - The support of detained
patients by Independent Mental Health
Advocates (IMHA)

Improving the experience of those patients who
receive a community mental health service is an
extension of the work undertaken with inpatient
services. This work will ensure that all service activities
and improvements are orientated towards improving
the experience of these patients. The most practical
source of data collection was through the completion
of a questionnaire and audits were undertaken twice
during the year.

Patients detained under the Mental Health Act have the
right to be supported by an Independent Mental Health
Advocate (IMHA). This vulnerable group of people do
not always take advantage of the IMHA service that is
available to help them as necessary. They have the
choice not to do so but are always encouraged to
utilise this service where possible.

Table 10: PEAT scores 2010/11

The quality improvement required an improvement in
the number of referrals to IMHA compared to the
baseline audit at May 2010 by 20%. The Trust’s
performance in this area is shown in Table 12 overleaf.

YEAR

Hospital

Environment

Food

Privacy & Dignity
(new category for 2009)

2011

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Good
Good

Excellent
Good
Excellent

Excellent
Good
Excellent

2010

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Acceptable
Good

Excellent
Acceptable
Excellent

Good
Good
Good

2009

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Excellent
Good
Good

Excellent
Good
Excellent

Good
Good
Good

2008

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Good
Good

Excellent
Good
Excellent

Not included in assessment
between 2006 -8

2007

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Good
Good
Acceptable

Good
Good
Good

2006

Edward Street
Hallam Street
Heath Lane

Poor
Acceptable
Poor

Acceptable
Good
Poor

Table 11: Completion of questionairre on Community Mental Health Services 2010/11
Requirement

Baseline Audit
May 2010

2nd Re-Audit
Jan 2011

Patients receiving community
mental health services
completed questionnaires on
level of satisfaction with service

25 patients surveyed
score of 89%

30 patients surveyed
score of 91%
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There have also been changes to the indicators for
Clinical Effectiveness from 2009/10. Changes to the
two indicators 95% of all new referrals have a
HONOS and score by Q4 and Maintain readmission rate below 5% at 28 days post
discharge were made as we were unable to establish
data collections and reporting systems in a timely
fashion. The indicator Ensure delayed discharges
are less than 7.5% across inpatient services is
covered later in the report under National Targets.

9.5 Clinical Effectiveness
9.5.1 Duration of untreated psychosis (DUP)
Early Intervention in Psychosis focuses on the early
treatment of psychosis during the formative years of
the illness. The first three to five years are believed to
be a critical period. The duration of untreated
psychosis has been shown as an indicator of more
positive prognoses, with a longer DUP associated
with increased likelihood of long term disability. The
Early Intervention Service (EIS) aims to reduce delays
to treatment for those in their first episode of
psychosis.

Requirement
To reduce the duration of untreated psychosis (DUP)
by providing effective early intervention services.
• Audit and analysis of early intervention services at
Quarter 2 and Quarter 4.
• An action plan for working with referrers who
associate with the longer DUPs and those referrers
who associate with lowest referral rates, in order to
reduce the duration of untreated psychosis.

Outcome
Both audits showed only minimal referrals from
General Practitioners (2) of which one was
inappropriate and the need to continue to promote
the Early Intervention Service (EIS) to local General
Practitioners. Results also revealed that the majority
of referrals are made to the Early Intervention Service
from other mental health services within the Trust
and most long delays in the duration of untreated
psychosis occur before a referral is actually made to
EIS. There were also some delays between the date of
referral to EIS and the date of assessment due to
staffing issues. There was also the need for a system
to be put in place for all staff to clearly understand
how to calculate and record the date of the onset of
psychosis from the date of the onset of criteria
treatment in order to record the duration of
untreated psychosis. An action plan identifying all of
these issues has been put in place and work is
continuing.

9.5.2 Clinical Effectiveness - treatment of
schizophrenia with talking therapies
Anti-psychotic medications can have pronounced side
effects that have profound effects on the wellbeing
of a patient and may not always be the best choice of
therapy. Patients who suffer with schizophrenia may
therefore benefit from Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
(CBT) sometimes referred to as ‘talking therapies’ as
described in NICE guidance rather than medication.
The locally agreed quality improvement was an audit
to ascertain the extent to which clients with a
diagnosis of schizophrenia or suspected
schizophrenia are receiving Cognitive Behavioural

Table 12: Number of referrals to Independant Mental Health Advocates (IMHAs) 2010/11
Requirement

The number of detained patients who were offered a referral to the IMHA service whilst
under the care of the Trust

Baseline Audit
May 2010

16 patients detained across all inpatient units. All of them received information on their
rights which includes access to IMHA service. However systems not in place during May to
record if this IMHA information was explained to service users by nursing staff

Re-Audit
Sept 2010

18 patients detained across all inpatient units. Systems now in place to record relevant
information. 9 were offered a referral. 1 patient was transferred out of service on the same
day as admitted. 4 patients not offered as too ill but not clear if offered at a later date. 4
patients not recorded.

2nd Re-Audit
Jan 2011

21 patients detained of which 19 were offered a referral to IMHA service. This equates to a
90% success rate.
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Therapy (CBT) in adult community mental health
services. A sample of 100 randomly selected clients
with a diagnosis of schizophrenia were selected from
the five adult community mental health teams
i.e. Assertive Outreach, Early Intervention, Rowley
Regis and Tipton, Oldbury and Smethwick and
Wednesbury and West Bromwich CMHTs, to look for
evidence that CBT has been offered. An electronic
questionnaire was devised against the guidance
outlined in NICE CG082 Schizophrenia 1.3.4.12 for
each care co-ordinator to complete. 100 completed
questionnaires were received back for the initial audit
in May 2010 and again for the re-audit undertaken in
January 2011.
The quality improvement required audits to be carried
out at Month 2 and Month 10 and to improve on the
baseline audit at Month 2 by 50%. 61% of 100
randomly selected clients with a diagnosis of
schizophrenia were offered Cognitive Behavioural
Therapy (CBT) at January 2011 compared to 40% at
May 2010, thus meeting this target.
For a comparison of results between January 2011
and May 2010, see Table 13 below.

9.5.3 Clinical Effectiveness - Infection
Prevention and Control
Surveillance is an essential component in the
prevention and control of infection within the Trust,
the main objectives of surveillance are:

• The prevention and early detection of outbreaks in
order to allow timely investigation and control.
• The assessment of infection levels over time in
order to determine the effectiveness of prevention
and / or control measures.
The Infection Prevention & Control Committee meets
quarterly to review the annual work plan to ensure a
safe environment is provided for patients, staff and
visitors in terms of infection risk as required by the
Health Social Care Act 2008. The Director of Infection
Prevention & Control reports directly to the Board of
Directors and presents quarterly reports to the
Executive Committee and Quality Assurance
Committee, with the annual report presented to the
Board of Directors. Any gaps in compliance, identified
via the auditing and inspection processes are
addressed via clear action plans which are presented
in a timely manner and monitored by the Infection
Control Nurse Specialist (ICNS). Exception reports are
presented to the above committees as / when
necessary.
The Trust works with the wider health economy to
reduce Health Care Acquired Infection (HCAI)
incidence, agree targets and monitor performance.
Cases of MRSA bacteraemia and C. difficile remain
very low and are monitored weekly by the ICNS. Due
to continued low numbers, the Trust has not been set
a trajectory target. However, should an incident
occur, systems are in place to ensure that a Root
Cause Analysis (RCA) is undertaken and action is
taken to reduce the incidence of recurrence across
the health economy.

Table 13: Clients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia offered CBT during 2010/11
Teams

Number of randomly selected
clients with a diagnosis of
schizophrenia

CBT offered as per NICE CG82

Jan 2011

May 2011

Jan 2011

May 2010

Assertive Outreach Team

22

23

13 (59%)

12 (52%)

Early Intervention Team

21

9

19 (90%)

6 (67%)

Oldbury & Smethwick CMHT

24

25

17 (71%)

16 (64%)

Rowley Regis & Tipton CMHT

17

17

8 (47%)

4 (24%)

Wednesbury & West Bromwich CMHT

16

26

4 (25%)

2 (8%)

Total Number

100

100

61 (61%)

40 (40%)
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Figure 1: Infection prevention and Control Surveillance Data
Surveillance Data
2009/10 Q1 – Q4
2010/11 Q1 – Q3

2009/10 Q1 – Q4
2010/11 Q1 – Q3

20
16
12
8

9.6 National Targets 2010/11
We report our performance against key national
priorities to the Board of Directors and our regulators
throughout the year. Actions to address any areas of
under performance are put in place where necessary.
The patient related performance measures and
outcomes shown in table 14 opposite help us to
monitor how we deliver our mental health services.

9.6.1 Meeting commitment to serve new
psychosis cases by early intervention teams
According to the World Health Organization
schizophrenia and other forms of psychoses which
affect young people represent a major public health
problem. Worldwide, they rank as the third most
disabling condition and pose an enormous burden,
both in terms of economic cost and of human
suffering. Yet, in spite of the availability of
interventions that can reduce relapses by more than
50%, not all affected individuals have access to
them, and when they do, it is not always in a timely
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and sustained way. Among the goals of care to these
people, the identification of the illness and its
treatment, as early as possible, represents a high
priority. Comprehensive programmes for the
detection and treatment of early psychosis and in
supporting the needs of young people with early
psychosis carry the important function of promoting
recovery, independence, equity and self-sufficiency
and of facilitating uptake of social, educational and
employment opportunities for those young people.
These programmes can be provided by individuals
and teams with specialised skills, with a full range of
primary health care services for every young person
with early psychosis.

9.6.2 Admissions to inpatients services had
access to crisis resolution home treatment
teams
A crisis resolution team (sometimes called a crisis
resolution home treatment team) provides intensive
support for people in mental health crises in their
own home: the team stays involved until the problem
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is resolved. It is designed to provide prompt and
effective home treatment, including medication, in
order to prevent hospital admissions and give support
to informal carers. This measure refers to the number
of admissions to the trust’s acute wards that were gate
kept by the crisis resolution home treatment teams.

9.10.3 Delayed Transfers of Care
This measure refers to the number on non - acute
patients aged 18 and over who’s transfer of care was
delayed each week. Although the Trust is not required
to monitor delayed discharges in social care,
nevertheless it does so in recognition of the wider
health and social responsibility to work jointly in
preventing delayed discharges.
The Trust believes that it is important to carry out
monitoring because once a service user no longer
requires hospital treatment, they should not
unnecessarily continue to be in hospital waiting for
discharge or transfer of care. Furthermore, when a
service user’s transfer to their next care setting is
delayed, it has an impact upon the quality of care they
receive.
The monitoring of this target has enabled the Trust to
enter into discussions with commissioners in attempts
to rectify the high number of delayed discharges
relating to social care.

9.10.4 - 7 Day Follow up
This measure refers to the number of people under
adult mental illness specialties on CPA receiving follow
up (by phone or face to face contact) within seven days
of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care. Follow up
within 7 days for service users discharged from hospital
is important because it is during the early days after

discharge that service users and their carers can feel
especially vulnerable. This process contributes to
reducing the overall rate of death by suicide across the
NHS.
Once a service user no longer requires hospital
treatment, they should not unnecessarily continue to
be in hospital waiting for discharge or transfer of care.
The delay of a service user’s transfer to the next care
setting has an impact on the quality of care they
receive. This contributes to what is a wider health and
social care responsibility to work jointly to prevent
delays in all patients receiving the right care in the right
place at the right time.

9.11 Annex
9.11.1 Statement from Stakeholder
Sandwell Primary Care Trust (PCT)
Sandwell PCT is the main commissioner of services at
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS
Foundation Trust and as such is responsible for
monitoring the quality of services provided for Sandwell
patients.
We believe that this Quality Report is factually accurate
and a good reflection of the Sandwell inpatient and
community services provided for people with mental
health problems and people with learning disabilities.
We have established close working relationships with
the Trust which have ensured that we have had good
timely access to information. Quality of care is
monitored in a variety of ways using various sources
and data types. We look forward to developing the
quality agenda further with the Trust in the coming
year.

Table 14: Patient related performance measures 2010/11
Target

Achievement

Meeting commitment
to serve new
psychosis cases by
early intervention
teams

Admissions to
inpatients services
had access to crisis
resolution home
treatment teams

Delayed Transfers of
Care
%

7 Day Follow
up
%

53

90%

< 7.5%

95%

Year to Date - 67

Quarterly average
100%

Excluding Social Care –
quarter to date 0.3%

Quarterly
average
98%

Including Social Care –
quarter to date 15.2%
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9.11.2 Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009
and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for
each financial year.
In preparing the quality report, directors have taken
to steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the content of the quality report meets the
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual 2010-11
• the content of the Quality Report is not
inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information including:
• Board minutes and papers for the period April
2010 to June 2011
• Papers relating to quality reported to the Board
over the period April 2010 to June 2011
• Feedback from the commissioners dated
18/05/2011
• The Trust’s Complaints Report published under
regulation 18 of the Local Authority
• Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations
2009, dated 25/05/2011
• The latest national patient survey
• The latest national staff survey
• The Head of Internal Audits annual opinion over
the trust’s control environment dated
20/04/2011
• CQC quality and risk profiles dated 25/05/2011.

• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of
the Trust’s performance over the period covered
• the performance information reported in the
Quality Report is reliable and accurate
• there are proper internal controls over the
collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Report, and
these controls are subject to review to confirm that
they are working effectively in practice
• the data underpinning the measures of
performance reported in the Quality Report is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data
quality standards and prescribed definitions, is
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review.
This Quality Report has been prepared in accordance
with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance as well as
the standards to support data quality for the
preparation of the Quality Report.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge
and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the Board,

Bob Piper, Chairman
25 May 2011
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